

**GEORGIA STATE BOARD OF COSMETOLOGY
BOARD MEETING
December 15, 2014
Professional Licensing Boards
237 Coliseum Drive
Macon, GA 31217**

The Georgia State Board of Cosmetology met on Monday December 17, 2014 at the Professional Licensing Boards, 237 Coliseum Drive, Macon, GA 31217.

MEMBERS PRESENT

- Cynthia Stein, Chairperson
- DRee Church-Krohn, Vice Chairperson
- Betty Carlisle
- Norma Banks
- Kathy McCaffrey
- James Hutcheson
- Kay Kendrick
- Belinda Sanders
- Dana Love

STAFF PRESENT

- Steve Lindsey Executive Director
- Beth Duffey, Board Support Specialist
- Scott Forbes, Assistant Attorney General
- Debra Helms, Licensing Supervisor
- Lisa Durden, Division Director
- Charles Harper, Legislative Liaison

VISITORS PRESENT(During Executive Session. Visitors are excused unless scheduled for personal appearance)

- Diane F. Drake
- Larry Brown
- Hope Robison
- Connie Johnson
- David Jones
- Virgil Ergle
- Richard Mullis
- Darrell Bullock
- Charles Manning

Cynthia Stein, Chairperson established a quorum was present and called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m.

OPEN SESSION

MINUTES

The Board reviewed the minutes from the November 17, 2014 Board meeting. Kay Kendrick motioned, Betty Carlisle seconded and the Board voted unanimously to approve the minutes. None opposed, motion carried.

EXECUTIVE SESSION

Betty Carlisle, made a motion, Kay Kendrick seconded, and the Board voted unanimously to enter into Executive Session in accordance with O.C.G.A. §§ 43-1-2(k), 43-1-9(h) and 50-14-2(1), to deliberate information at the request of the Assistant Attorney General.

At the conclusion of the Executive Session at 9:15 a.m. Cynthia Stein declared the meeting to be “open” pursuant to the Open and Public Meeting Act O.C.G.A. § 50-14-1 et seq. No Board votes were obtained during Executive Session.

OPEN SESSION

Kay Kendrick motioned, Betty Carlisle seconded and the Board voted unanimously to waive privilege on discussion of two internal memos from the Assistant Attorney General to the Board regarding proposed legislation until the Georgia State Board of Barber joins the meeting. None opposed, motion carried.

PRESENTATIONS

Larry R. Brown

Larry R. Brown, O.D., Board of Optometry and Diane F. Drake, L.D.O., Chairperson, Board of Licensed Dispensing Opticians, addressed the Board with a presentation of their campaign to stop illegal sales of decorative contact lenses. Dr. Brown and Ms. Drake asked the Board for any assistance they can offer to inform cosmetology salons that cosmetologists cannot sell these products. The Board advised that the issue is not within their jurisdiction; however, the Board would take the presentation and request under advisement and do what they can.

Kay Kendrick motioned, Belinda Sanders seconded, and the Board voted unanimously to instruct inspectors to look for decorative contact lens sales in salons and report it to the Board staff so a complaint can be generated and forwarded to the Georgia Board of Dispensing Opticians.

Connie Judge- Johnson-Trichology

Connie Johnson addressed the Board with her request for information on how she can obtain approval of her school instruction in Trichology. The Board advised her to apply for approval of her continuing education course, and suggested contacting post-secondary schools for inclusion of her course in the program offerings. The Board also advised her that they will need to consult with their attorney to determine whether the board can approve her school. The Board agreed to revisit the issue in January.

LICENSES ISSUED REPORT

The Board reviewed the following report of licenses issued:

Licenses Issued 11-1-14 thru 11-30-14 Total (406)	
CO124615	Kelly, Dana
CO124616	Walker, Tokisha Shemise
CO124617	Dickey, Angel B
CO124618	Poulter, Danielle June
CO124619	Stevenson, Keniqua Shadai
CO124620	Huynh, Hoa Kim
CO124621	Duncan, Brittney Lauren
CO124622	Rowlett, Cassi Ellen
CO124623	Polite, Kimberly Doyelle
CO124624	Farr, Brian Derell
CO124625	Ubdullah, Munal H
CO124626	Whitely, Nashalee Kerry-Ann
CO124627	Sanford, Najee Jameica
CO124628	Elrod, Madison Ann
CO124629	Dexter, Betty Thomas
CO124630	Price, Loren Rene
CO124631	Helton, Jared Ryan
CO124632	Burton, Traci Yvonne
CO124633	Fluker, Kenisha Lynenia
CO124634	Vasile, Carla Danielle
CO124635	McCormack, Cameron Leigh
CO124636	Durbin, Jessica Elaine
CO124637	Torres, Viviana
CO124638	Mitchell, Katie Ellen
CO124639	Anderson, Rebecca Suzanne
CO124640	Rauch, Audrey Jamie
CO124641	Adamson, Jenna L
CO124642	Matthews, Courtney Michelle
CO124643	Thomas, Brandi Kay
CO124644	Abdullah, Asia Khamile
CO124645	Chagani, Amina
CO124646	Paulson, Shannon Lyn
CO124647	Thwaites, Ashley Debbie
CO124648	McCarter, Shadai Deanna
CO124649	Turner, Cheron R
CO124650	Kofile, Sarah Rae
CO124651	Cravey, Suzannah Michelle
CO124652	Hemerda, Kelly Anne
CO124653	Meador, Deborah Vaigneur

CO124654	Harris, Cheryl Finney
CO124655	Raynor, Angela
CO124656	Wooster, Macie Ann
CO124657	Rachels, Jenna Catherine
CO124658	Runkle, Courtney Michelle
CO124659	Walton Harvey, Sierra Liliana
CO124660	Seccuro, Samantha R
CO124661	Boothe, Althea Ivey
CO124662	Philpott, Corie Camille
CO124663	Cherry, Shavon Calenda
CO124664	Mott, Rachael Meghann
CO124665	Elliott, Sheena Marie
CO124666	Little, Catherine Lynn
CO124667	Le, Minh Tri Hieu
CO124668	Piette, Aurela
CO124669	Howard, Eston Payne
CO124670	Odom, Tiffany Nichole
CO124671	McCartney, Sherry Lyn
CO124672	Turner, Ronecia Janee
CO124673	Mackey, Faith Elizabeth
CO124674	Gibson, Kashia Nico
CO124675	Looney, Lillian Rachael
CO124676	Lukianets, Olesia V
CO124677	Taft, Alyssa Marie
CO124678	Soy, Chandy
CO124679	Horsham, Brittany Lakiea
CO124680	Nguyen, Loan T
CO124681	Compton, Kaitlyn Amber
CO124682	Oconitrilla Rojas, Fabiola
CO124683	Davis, Marqueeta S
CO124684	Pope, India Sad'e
CO124685	Gainey, Marilyn Kimberly
CO124686	Crawford, Tamara Lashae
CO124687	Taber, Nickole Alexis
CO124688	Warren, Faith Diamond
CO124689	Magouirk, Jordan Ann
CO124690	Brown, Chrissi Lee
CO124691	Alderman, Laura Elizabeth
CO124692	Strom, Holly Cheree
CO124693	Hill, Chelsea Corinthians
CO124694	Hines, Wanda Rochelle
CO124695	Morehouse, Katrina Ashley
CO124696	Fulton, Erika Danielle

CO124697	Petrova, Lina
CO124698	Gable, Desirae A
CO124699	Curry, Amber leene
CO124700	Coulter, Iracema Batista
CO124701	Copper, Danielle Jaye
CO124702	Jones, Angela Renee
CO124703	Harvey, Deanne Marie
CO124704	Graham, Trina Shiree
CO124705	Hopkins, Tayler Nicolle
CO124706	Gregory, Rosemarie Elizabeth
CO124707	Gibson, Ashley Nichole
CO124708	Rathbun, Kimberly Lyn
CO124709	Dean, Amber Nicole
CO124710	Wheeler, Keshundra Estell
CO124711	Miller-Navarre, Robert Michael
CO124712	Shedd, Susan C
CO124713	Vu, Thuy Lien Thi
CO124714	Baughman, Rickey Lee
CO124715	Taylor, Karen Sue
CO124716	Robinson, Lavan
CO124717	Tilghman, Ashaneyia I
CO124718	Baker, Jordan Faith
CO124719	Robinson, Shaneka
CO124720	Gonzalez, Monique Anna
CO124721	Dobson, Casey Elisabeth
CO124722	Hyman-Johnson, Teana
CO124723	Jackson, Tygress Simone
CO124724	Pilgrim, Paige Allison
CO124725	Littleton, Lindsey Gaye
CO124726	Pursley, Toni Elaine
CO124727	Knight, T'Keya Senai
CO124728	Wiles, Francesca Jo
CO124729	Zuga, Elizabeth
CO124730	Knight, Jessica Renee
CO124731	Nguyen, Anh Ngoc Viet
CO124732	Rapp, Sheina Brozas
CO124733	Languren Garcia, Maricela
CO124734	Landmesser, Kelly Elizabeth
CO124735	Brands, Erin Elizabeth
CO124736	Taylor, Jennifer Nicole
CO124737	Benson, Stacey LaDawn
CO124738	Adams, Katherine Shahan
CO124739	Kieu, Linh My

CO124740	LaCaze, Shayne O'Neal
CO124741	Nguyen, Yen Nhi Thi
CO124742	Gordon, Antonio B.
CO124743	Jones, Terez Leslie
CO124744	Hogan, Labria Jeniece
CO124745	Howard, Bianca Danielle
CO124746	Polite, Erika Taylor
CO124747	Watkins, Celeste Ames
CO124748	Lam, Binh Hue
CO124749	Davis, Lindsey L
CO124750	Rogers, Naquisha Vanette
CO124751	Nguyen, Hiep Ngoc
CO124752	Moon, Victoria Celeste
CO124753	Wells, Tiffaney
CO124754	Cooper, Shoni Lana
CO124755	Burroughs, Kayla Michelle
CO124756	McDowell, Terrence Delmar
CO124757	Tran, Ai Nhi Thi
CO124758	Sanders, Ashlee Christine
CO124759	Arcangeli, Natalie Camille
CO124760	Ancrum, Janelle Lakeisha
CO124761	Kassim, Jasmine Lenas
CO124762	Spivey, Donna Maria
CO124763	Archer, Railey Austen
CO124764	Waters, Fredrick M.
CO124765	Strowger, Ashley Renee
CO124766	Isom, Alicia Sealia
CO124767	Edenfield, Cara Michelle
CO124768	Torres, Karina
CO124769	Rachels, Molly Rebecca
CO124770	Chancey, Emma Lee
CO124771	Roberson, Kayla Faith
CO124772	Kirby, Ashley Brianne
CO124773	Rhodes, Kristina Marie
CO124774	Holtzen, Deborah Anne
CO124775	Hillman, Brittney Laine
CO124776	Anderson, Marcy Joan
CO124777	Habberfield, Rachel Kay
CO124778	Rountree, Jessica N
CO124779	Holsinger, Natalie Virginia
CO124780	Hobbs, Monique Marie
CO124781	Yang, Lydia Moua
CO124782	Frazier, Natalie Nicole

CO124783	Ahrendt, Christopher Duane
CO124784	Getahoun, Sirgut W
CO124785	Romine, Morgan Elizabeth
CO124786	Johnson, Shelly Marie
CO124787	Harris, Jayson D'Andre
CO124788	Rucker, Robin
CO124789	Johnson, Ashley Brooke
CO124790	Malla, Binu
CO124791	Wells-Thompson, Aubrey Genevieve
CO124792	Oakes, Kimberly Gibson
CO124793	Walters, Jordan Hall
CO124794	Wilkes, Shirley Rose
COA011033	Johnson, Hannah Ariel
COA011034	Edwards, Chelsea Jaye
COA011035	Margaryan, Anahit
COA011036	Durham, Shannon Sierra
COA011037	Graves, Morrocco Bernard
COA011038	Squires, Jennifer Marie
COA011039	Phillips, Savannah Rhae
COA011040	Gerrard, Rebecca Marie
COA011041	McAlpin, Angela Catherine
COA011042	Murray, Kayla Jordan
COA011043	Yuhas, Melissa
COI-001784	Epple, Julia Anne
COI-001785	Grier, LaPorsha Daniell
COI-001786	Richardson, Syreeta
COI-001787	Jones, Syria T
COI-001788	Felix, Marcella Vernetta
COI-001789	Williams, Monique Yvette
COI-001790	Jarrett, Twanna Detrice
COI-001791	Kennedy, Teleia Barbara
COI-001792	Lovelace, Arin Leatte
COI-001793	Davis, Jaime N.
COI-001794	Ferguson, Nicole Sherrise
COI-001795	Wilkes, Shirley Rose
COSA051558	Sara's Hair Salon
COSA051559	Infinite Designs Salon and Spa
COSA051560	Salon Elizabeth Madison
COSA051561	Sport Clips Haircuts Salon
COSA051562	Tease Salon LLC
COSA051563	Posh Salon
COSA051564	Happy Nails Salon
COSA051565	ilash Pro Extensions Salon

COSA051566	Darryl Blake Salon
COSA051567	Hush Hair Studio Salon
COSA051568	B Nails CH LLC Salon
COSA051569	Julio Nails Atl Salon
COSA051570	Lux Skin Shop
COSA051571	Regal Nails Salon
COSA051572	Marsha's Lavish Beauty Salon
COSA051573	Natural Nails Salon
COSA051574	CoCo Ashe Salon
COSA051575	Dweller Webb Salon, Inc
COSA051576	Haus of Bling Nail Salon & Beauty Bar
COSA051577	Salon 447
COSA051578	Tanglez Salon
COSA051579	Touch of Class Hair Salon and Spa
COSA051580	Ivy Falls Nails and Spa Salon
COSA051581	Who's Next Salon by Christie
COSA051582	Reflection Salon LLC
COSA051583	Different Hair Salon
COSA051584	Pro Nails Salon
COSA051585	Rock Chicks Color Bar Salon
COSA051586	Bubbles Salon
COSA051587	Mona Salon
COSA051588	The B Spot Salon
COSA051589	Pure Skin and Body Shop
COSA051590	Divine Touch Salon and Spa
COSA051591	Canton Nails Salon
COSA051592	Sophie's Hair Salon
COSA051593	Bellas Dominican Hair Salon
COSA051594	Diverse Stylez Hair Salon
COSA051595	Tabong Hair Salon
COSA051596	Shear Beauty Styling Salon
COSA051597	Nail World Salon
COSA051598	Mellesworld Beauty Bar Salon
COSA051599	Great Clips Salon Woodstock Square
COSA051600	Super Starz Hair and Beauty Studio Salon
COSA051601	Salon Z
COSA051602	Exquisite Styles Salon
COSA051603	The Mad Redhead Salon
COSA051604	Halo Salon and Spa, LLC
COSA051605	Angel Nails Salon
COSA051606	Best Cuts Salon
COSA051607	Elite Beauty Master Salon

COSA051608	Crissie's Salon
COSA051609	Salon Lashe
COSA051610	The Glam Spot Salon Boutique
COSA051611	Sisters In Action Hairbraiding Shop
COSA051612	Top Ten Nails Salon
COSA051613	K Barone Salon
COSA051614	Tiffany's Hair Salon
COSA051615	Linda Dobson Salon
COSA051616	Healthy Hair Styling Salon
COSA051617	The J.Marie Salon
COSA051618	Piedmont Nail Bar Salon
COSA051619	Newnan Nails Salon
COSA051620	Kut N Edge Shop
COSA051621	Salon 902
COSA051622	Oceane Nails Salon
COSA051623	Garian's Beauty Lounge Salon
COSA051624	Supercuts Salon
COSA051625	Salon Cheveux On Main, LLC
COSA051626	Stylez by Denitriel Shop
COSA051627	Salon South
COSA051628	Studio Pough Salon
COSA051629	Natural Born Stylists Salon
COSA051630	MGB Salon and Spa
COSC000268	Ritz Beauty Academy LLC
COSC000269	CEI Hair Schools, LLC
ES006092	Richardson, Twana
ES006093	Miranda, Keralis Christina
ES006094	Brackman, Susan Elizabeth
ES006095	Garcia, Frida Yoselin
ES006096	Terzic, Najda
ES006097	Worley, Allegro
ES006098	Pressley, Ashton Brooke
ES006099	Nguyen, Huu Dung Tran
ES006100	Ulitin, Nadezda Valerevna
ES006101	Rosby, Taheerah Breun
ES006102	Gardner, Brittany Nicole
ES006103	Vu, Rose Hong
ES006104	Miranda, Sophia Marie
ES006105	Robinson, Vera Cubara
ES006106	Bilal, Carmen Aesha
ES006107	Roberts, Laurie Arlene Smith
ES006108	Lyn-Simmons, Crystal Roxinne
ES006109	Dobinson, Jordan Brooke

ES006110	Deltac, Tracy Lynn
ES006111	Braun, Lindsey Michal
ES006112	Todd, Beverly Annette
ES006113	Brunson - Killian, Shannon Dawn
ES006114	Huling, Shannon M
ES006115	Sousa, Sheila Rodrigues
ES006116	Williams, Reyna Michelle
ES006117	Crawley, Ella Penney
ES006118	Evans, Unique Victoria
ES006119	Cauley, Brittany Quatis
ES006120	Hu, Langping
ES006121	Solomon, Peggy A
ES006122	D'Agostino, Nicola
ES006123	Clark, Kiah Allison
ESA000672	Tran, Trang Tuyet Thi
ESA000673	Gregorio, Gezille Pelarion
ESA000674	Miller, Mae E
ESA000675	Lourenco, Lorena Dias
ESA000676	Berton, Jennifer Diane
ESI-000127	Dang, Joanne Kimberly
HD000905	Knight, Sheena Alita
HD000906	Ospitale, Debra H
HD000907	Sunderland, Tylar Joell
HD000908	Webb, Alyssa Allyn
HD000909	Smith, Alissa Leeann
HD000910	Chambers, Corinne Elizabeth
HD000911	Faith, Tara Lynn
HD000912	Dodd, Michaela K
HD000913	Shropshire, Helen carol
HD000914	Mallory, Amber Lolita
HDA000574	Bieck, Lindsay F
HDA000575	Watts, Sharell Patricia
HDA000576	King, Taurus Treraill
HDA000577	Burks, Katrina Latray
HDA000578	Beall, Marissa Lynne
HDA000579	Menedez, Jairo Salvador
HDA000580	Russell, Hollie Ann
HDA000581	Derr, Sharon Ann
HDA000582	Terry, Allison Marie
HDI000021	Palmer, Kathryn Lindsay
NT017107	Un, Phalla
NT017108	Jett, Nadiyah Melissa
NT017109	Ton, Hoang

NT017110	Phan, Vanjennifer
NT017111	Hoang, Hong-Truc Vu
NT017112	Rivera, Grandassa Plasida
NT017113	Le, Suong Thi Thu
NT017114	Nguyen, Thao Vinh, Sr.
NT017115	Martin, DelShawnte Machel
NT017116	Lee, Sherra Z
NT017117	Duong, Chuong Van
NT017118	Ho, Diep Ngoc
NT017119	Le, Dinh Q
NT017120	Huynh, Nhu Ngoc Thi
NT017121	Jackson, Tamara D
NT017122	Crenshaw, Tausha R
NT017123	Wright, Adia Jawan
NT017124	Do, Dzung
NT017125	Ledford, Heidi Colleen
NT017126	Lam, Thuy Tram T
NT017127	Nguyen, Kim Huong T
NT017128	Gregorio, Gezille Pelarion
NT017129	Wright, Tracey Michelle
NT017130	Nham, Thanh Vy
NT017131	Roberts, Ambra E
NT017132	Sims, Crystal Lynn
NT017133	Nguyen, Thuan Thi Bich
NT017134	Do, Vi Ngoc Thuy
NT017135	Davis, Anita Marie
NT017136	Pham, My Duyen
NT017137	Nguyen, Phuong T
NT017138	Nguyen, Viet Tan Diep
NT017139	Phan, Trong Duc
NT017140	Truong, Thang
NT017141	Tran, Phuong M
NTA007414	Hamilton, Kiara Shakira
NTA007415	Le, Nga Thi
NTA007416	Phan-Sterling, Phuong Thao
NTA007417	Nguyen, Duc Thi Minh
NTA007418	Nguyen, Kim Khanh T
NTA007419	Nguyen, Trang Thi
NTA007420	Huynh, Tuyet Bach
NTA007421	Aung, May Thu
NTA007422	Nguyen, Dang Lac Phy
NTA007423	Nguyen, Tien Lac Minh
NTA007424	Tran, Ngoc Huy Phan

NTA007425	Pham, Khai Tuan
NTA007426	Duong, Caitlin Dawn
NTA007427	Nguyen, Diem Ngoc
NTA007428	Kim, Susan
NTA007429	Nguyen, Thuy Oanh T
NTA007430	Pham, Huong Thi
NTA007431	Kim, Mi Park
NTA007432	Pham, Truc Thanh
NTA007433	Le, Kim Mi Thi
NTA007434	Poindexter, Debra Jean
NTA007435	Le, Huy Xuan
NTA007436	Luu, Khanh H
NTA007437	Green, Georgina Maria
NTA007438	Ngo, Ngoc Minh
NTA007439	Dinh, Uyen Thi Thu
NTA007440	Carbajal, Lucia Barrios
NTA007441	Nguyen, Leem Thi Hong
NTA007442	Le, Nga Thi Ngoc
NTA007443	Vo, Tu Thanh
NTA007444	Nguyen, Dang Tri
NTA007445	Vu, Thuy Linh Cong
NTA007446	Nguyen, Thinh Quoc
NTA007447	Vu, Cuong Manh
NTA007448	Lac, Mina Thanh

Kay Kendrick motioned, Dree Church-Krohn seconded and the Board voted unanimously to ratify the licenses issued as presented on the report. None opposed, motion carried.

CEASE AND DESIST ORDERS

The Board reviewed the Cease & Desist Orders report which included the following eight (8) individuals and/or establishments:

- Robert Cornelius Walton Jr, Atlanta
- Pro Cutz Salon, Griffin
- Chau Minh Tran, Newnan
- Thao Thi Thu Nguyen, Newnan
- Muc K Le, Newnan
- Mong Tuyen Thi Le, McDonough
- Natalie Fleming, Blairsville
- Phuong Le Lu, Cleveland

Dree Church-Krohn motioned, Betty Carlisle seconded and the Board voted unanimously to ratify acceptance of the cease and desist orders report, as presented. None opposed, motion carried.

FINES PAID REPORT

The Board reviewed the following fines paid report for November 2014:

Licensee	License #	Amount Paid
A New Horizon Salon	COSA038382	\$175.00
Alba's Beauty Salon	COSA049791	\$500.00
Alexandar Salon	COSA037221	\$200.00
Beautiful U African Braids Shop	COSA047898	\$75.00
Bliss Salon & Spa	COSA043300	\$500.00
Cascade Nails	NTSA005424	\$500.00
Chriscuts & Styles Salon	COSA036403	\$250.00
Cindy's Salon	COSA027895	\$500.00
CoBreon Hair Gallery Salon	COSA047342	\$325.00
D & J Hair, Salon Inc DBA Cuts By US	COSA031011	\$25.00
Different Hair Salon	COSA046061	\$1,250.00
Different Hair Salon	COSA028092	\$700.00
Elements Of Style Beauty Salon	COSA024156	\$25.00
Esther's Beauty Salon	COSA030232	\$600.00
French Nails Shop	COSA045096	\$500.00
French Nails Shop	COSA045096	\$25.00
GA Nails Spa Salon	COSA049134	\$50.00
Glennville Nails Salon	COSA040362	\$25.00
Good Hair Days Salon	COSA050262	\$50.00
Great Clips For Hair	COSA026696	\$25.00
Hair Secrets Salon	COSA043821	\$250.00
Imani's Too Hair and More Salon	COSA045366	\$500.00
Israel Diaz Sanchez	HD000209	\$1,500.00
Jamison Britt Beauty Salon	COSA025648	\$125.00
Ken's Nails Salon	COSA040754	\$1,000.00
Kozby Hair Salon, LLC	COSA050060	\$50.00
Liberty Hair Studio	COSA024888	\$525.00
Lizbeth 3 Dominican Hair Salon	COSA049996	\$500.00
Lucimar's Brazilian Salon	COSA048683	\$50.00
Lynn's Nails	NTSA005053	\$525.00
Magic Nails Salon	COSA039111	\$1,000.00
Moon Cosmetology Salon	COSA036698	\$50.00
Nail Eagle Salon	COSA040977	\$550.00
Nail Land Salon	COSA035438	\$1,100.00
Nail Luv Salon	COSA045436	\$50.00
Nail Max By Luu LLC Salon	COSA045602	\$550.00
Nail One Salon	COSA041834	\$100.00
Nail Trap	COSA028155	\$150.00
Nails Etc... Salon	COSA036075	\$75.00
Nails First Salon	COSA038720	\$100.00
New Image Beauty Salon	COSA034934	\$25.00
Nia Soule Salon	COSA046719	\$25.00
NU-Image Salon II	COSA035385	\$100.00
Party Nails	NTSA005316	\$25.00
Perfect Nail Shop	COSA042921	\$75.00

Persnickity Salon	COSA035779	\$25.00
Princess Nails and Spa Salon	COSA048331	\$1,550.00
Q Nails Salon	COSA047932	\$525.00
Quality Nails Nail Salon	COSA049406	\$25.00
Queen Nail Salon	COSA034366	\$500.00
Queen Nails and Spa Salon	COSA050683	\$1,125.00
RC Dominican Hair Salon LLC	COSA040756	\$500.00
Real Spa Salon	COSA048055	\$25.00
Regal Nails Salon	COSA050746	\$25.00
Regal Nails Salon & Spa	COSA042890	\$575.00
Revolution Nail Salon	NTSA004440	\$500.00
Rochelle Rochelle Hair Salon	COSA046377	\$50.00
RosaLee's Nail Salon	COSA047975	\$525.00
Rubi Nail Shop	COSA043327	\$500.00
Salon Bella	COSA048868	\$25.00
Salon Eleven	COSA044688	\$100.00
Salon Le Nails	COSA042336	\$675.00
Salon Scenes	COSA048902	\$50.00
Salon Services of Stockbridge	COSA050524	\$75.00
Sangi's Beauty Salon	COSA042437	\$600.00
Sara's Beauty Salon	COSA006212	\$25.00
Sassy Scissors Salon	COSA047750	\$25.00
Shadez Of Colour Salon	COSA049862	\$50.00
Shear Elegance Salon	COSA038737	\$25.00
Shear Image Hair Salon	COSA046409	\$350.00
Shenails Salon	COSA037003	\$500.00
SmartStyle Salon #1061	COSA037753	\$25.00
Somethin Extra Salon	COSA042305	\$700.00
Split Endz Salon	COSA045905	\$250.00
Studio 55-Hair Design	COSA025333	\$500.00
Studio Moraee Salon	COSA040638	\$200.00
Suzanne's Beauty Salon	COSA006859	\$25.00
T-Nails	COSA033333	\$1,500.00
Top Nails Salon	COSA039961	\$200.00
Trend Z Full Service Bty Salon	COSA022684	\$100.00
Violet's Hair Salon	COSA040187	\$100.00
Z Nails	COSA028680	\$600.00
	TOTAL	\$28,450.00

Norma Banks motioned, Betty Carlisle seconded and the Board voted unanimously to accept the fines paid report for November 2014, as presented. None opposed, motion carried.

Consent Orders/Agreements

Betty Carlisle motioned to ratify acceptance of the following Consent Orders/Agreements, Norma Banks seconded and the Board voted unanimously in favor. None opposed, motioned carried.

Applicant	Christopher Ahrendt	Consent Agreement for Licensure
Applicant	Viet Tan Diep Nguyen	Consent Agreement for Licensure
CO077482	Jibrib Waajid	Consent Agreement for Reinstatement

CO093071	Keri Dollar	Consent Agreement for Reinstatement
COSA024594	A Salon All About Hair	Consent Order
CO113174	Stephanie Lynn Williams	Consent Agreement for Reinstatement
COSA011680	Styles By Alice Beauty Salon	Consent Order
COSA039328	Studio 8 Hair Salon	Consent Order
CO055640	Cynthia Martin	Consent Order
CO113098	Pascual Loarca dba Nueva Imagen salon	Consent Order
COSA036279	Beth's Nail Salon	Consent Order
Applicant	Akili Bivins	Consent Agreement for Licensure

APPROVED CE PROVIDERS

Kay Kendrick motioned to ratify acceptance of the following CE Provider Applications, Norma Banks seconded and the Board voted unanimously in favor. None opposed, motioned carried.

2012-2014 CE Period

Jessica Mock-Body & Facial Sugaring-2Hrs.
Fontonya Holt-Mo Money Monday's-5Hrs.

2015-2017 CE Period

Jessica Mock-Body & Facial Sugaring-2Hrs.
Fontonya Holt-Mo Money Monday's-5Hrs.
Spa Sydell-Understanding Waxing Techniques- 5 Hrs.
The Hair Craft-Best Practices in Health and Business- 5Hrs.
The HairVraft-Best Practices in Health and Business- 5Hrs. (On-Line Course)
Cheryl Denise Wynn- Esthetics-5 Hrs.
Salon Evolve Hair Academy-Basic Methods-7.5 Hrs.
Awareness C.E. Zoe Sanders-ACE Lashes-7.5 Hrs/ How to be an effective educator-**Instructor Course** 7.5 Hrs/ How to care for a client's feet with diabetes- 2Hrs.

CORRESPONDENCE

The Board members reviewed the National-Interstate Council of State Boards of Cosmetology's Theory and Practical Examination Updates. Cynthia Stein commented that she was not in support of the portion concerning microdermabrasion. Dana Love also commented that she does not support the portion concerning microdermabrasion, because that is a service that should be performed by medical providers, and not salons and spas. Kay Kendrick stated her opinion that none of the updates should be added to the exams under the current contract with PSI. Any updates approved by the Board should be added to exams under a new contract.

After discussion, Kay Kendrick motioned, Dree Church-Krohn seconded, and the Board voted unanimously to notify PSI that the Board is not in favor of adding any of the updates to the exams, including the Nail Tech exam, at this time, and that in the future, any proposed updates to exams should be provided to the board for review prior to notifying the schools.

Cosmetology School Inspection Report/Citation Form

The Board members reviewed a proposed Cosmetology School Inspection Report for use by Board inspectors. After review and correction of a minor error, Kay Kendrick motioned, Betty Carlisle seconded, and the Board voted unanimously to approve the inspection report. None Opposed, motion carried.

Legislative Matters

At 10:30 a.m., the Board was joined by the following members of the Georgia State Board of Barbers to discuss proposed legislation.

- David Jones, Chair
- Virgil Ergle, Vice- Chair
- Richard Mullis
- Charles Manning
- Darrell Bullock

Lisa Durden, Professional Licensing Boards Division Director, and Charles Harper, Legislative Liaison with the Office of Secretary of State, were also in attendance to present the proposed legislation to the Boards. The legislation proposed will amend O.C.G.A. § 43-10 to combine the two Boards into one Board. Both Boards have previously reviewed the proposed legislation, and primary discussion focused on the composition of the combined Board.

The proposed legislation listed the composition as follows:

- 3 Master Barber members
- 2 Master Cosmetologist members
- 1 Nail Technician member
- 1 Barber Instructor member
- 1 Consumer member

The proposed legislation also called for a Cosmetologist to serve as Chair and a Master Barber to serve as Vice-Chair during even-numbered years, and a Master Barber to serve as Chair and a Cosmetologist to serve as Vice-Chair during odd-numbered years.

Discussion of the Board composition began with members of the Cosmetology Board expressing their disagreement with the proposed composition. Cynthia Stein, James Hutcheson, and Dree Church-Krohn voiced their opinions that the Cosmetologists should have more representation, due to the number of licensees regulated by the Board as compared to the number of licensees regulated by the Board of Barbers, and to the complexity and variety of the services performed by cosmetologists.

After much discussion of the issue, the boards reached a compromise of the following Board composition:

- 2 Master Barber members
- 2 Master Cosmetologist members
- 1 Nail Technician member
- 1 Esthetician member
- 1 Barber Instructor member
- 1 Cosmetology Instructor member
- 2 Consumer members

The Boards further agreed to delete the proposal of who should serve as Chair and Vice-Chair. The Boards also agreed to change the continuing education requirement to 5 hours biennially.

DRee- Church-Krohn proposed that the name of the new Board, originally designated as the State Board of Barbers and Cosmetology, should be the State Board of Cosmetology and Barbers. The proposal was agreed to without opposition.

After discussion ended, the following motions and votes were taken:

James Hutcheson motioned, Kay Kendrick seconded, and the Georgia State Board of Cosmetology members voted unanimously to approve the proposed legislation with the amendments made. None opposed, motion carried.

Richard Mullis motioned, Virgil Ergil seconded, and the Georgia State Board of Barbers members voted unanimously to approve the proposed legislation with the amendment made. None opposed, motion carried.

EXECUTIVE SESSION

Betty Carlisle motioned, Norma Banks seconded and the Board voted unanimously to enter into executive session in accordance with O.C.G.A. §§ 43-1-2(k), 43-1-19(h), and 50-14-2(1), to deliberate on an appearance and application.

At the conclusion of the Executive Session, Cynthia Stein declared the meeting to be “open” pursuant to the Open and Public Meeting Act, O.C.G.A. § 50-14-1 et seq. No Board votes were obtained during Executive Session.

OPEN SESSION

APPEARANCE

Application #2481318 C.B- Rescind previous motion; Applicant must sit for the practical exams and issue license upon passing.

CITATION HEARINGS

The Board conducted Citation Hearings.

EXECUTIVE SESSION

Kay Kendrick motioned, Betty Carlisle seconded and the Board voted unanimously to enter into executive session in accordance with O.C.G.A. §§ 43-1-2(k), 43-1-19(h), and 50-14-2(1), to deliberate on information received in the citation hearings.

At the conclusion of the Executive Session, Cynthia Stein declared the meeting to be “open” pursuant to the Open and Public Meeting Act, O.C.G.A. § 50-14-1 et seq. No Board votes were obtained during Executive Session.

OPEN SESSION

Kay Kendrick made a motion, DRee Church-Krohn seconded and the Board voted unanimously to accept the following Board recommendations on the Citation Hearings. None opposed, motion carried.

Shop Name/Owner/License #	Citation Date	Decision
Almost Paradise Beauty Salon Glenwood COSA047118- lapsed Owner: Chiquitha L Williams CO088517- active	08/22/14	The Board moved upholding the citation but reducing the fine amount to \$550.00, giving 90 days from docketed date to pay and automatic suspension of license if not paid in 120 days.
A'mayzing Designs Beauty Salon Fitzgerald COSA050351- active Owner: Melissa Powell	07/18/14	The Board moved upholding the citation, giving 30 days from docketed date to pay and automatic suspension of license if not paid in 30 days.
DC Factor Salon Valdosta COSA047656- active Owner: Danielle Graham	03/20/14	The Board moved upholding the citation but reducing the fine amount to \$250.00, giving 90 days from docketed date to pay and automatic suspension of license if not paid in 120 days.
Delmar Gardens of Smyrna Beauty Salon Smyrna COSA013150- active Owner: Dawn St. Fleur	07/01/14	The Board moved upholding the citation, giving 30 days from docketed date to pay and automatic suspension of license if not paid in 90 days.
Famous Hair Salon #61233 Lawrenceville COSA039616-active Owner: Regis Salons Corp	02/21/13	The Board moved upholding the citation, giving 30 days from docketed date to pay and automatic suspension of license if not paid in 90 days.
Fortson, Chandra LaTisa DBA- Strands Studio Salon CO118475- active Augusta	09/03/14	The Board moved upholding the citation and zero the fine.
Hair Expo Unisex Salon LLC Kennesaw COSA039333- active Owner: Luz E Dell Valle	07/11/14	The Board moved upholding the citation but reducing the fine amount to \$300.00, giving 90 days from docketed date to pay and automatic suspension of license if not paid in 120 days.

Nail Spa 1 Salon Lilburn COSA046336- active Owner: Kimhun Giang / Sokun Nuon	08/29/14	The Board moved upholding the citation, giving 90 days from docketed date to pay and automatic suspension of license if not paid in 120 days.
Nova Hair Salon Suwanee COSA035562- active Owner: Cynthia Lynn Orzech	02/06/13	The Board moved upholding the citation, giving 30 days from docketed date to pay and automatic suspension of license if not paid in 90 days.
Salon NYC Lilburn COSA035567- active Owner: Jason Davis & Kendle Sherman	07/03/14	The Board moved upholding the citation but reducing the fine amount to \$1250.00, giving 90 days from docketed date to pay and automatic suspension of license if not paid in 120 days.
Salon Vibe Fairburn COSA038427- lapsed Owner: Betty Jean Coleman CO096776-active	04/17/14	The Board moved upholding the citation, giving 30 days from docketed date to pay and automatic suspension of license if not paid in 90 days.
Schnee, Elisabeth Hill DBA- Park Avenue Skincare Salon CO027838-active Gainesville	10/10/12	The Board moved upholding the citation and zero the fine.
The Beauty Boutique and Salon Fayetteville COSA046967- active Owner: Ekeena Majors	01/23/13	The Board moved upholding the citation but reducing the fine amount to \$250.00, giving 90 days from docketed date to pay and automatic suspension of license if not paid in 120 days.
Williams, Kissie Kinekk CO107327 Lapsed d/b/a Essence Beauty Salon Valdosta COSA047393- lapsed	07/11/14	The Board moved upholding the citation, giving 30 days from docketed date to pay and automatic suspension of license if not paid in 90 days.

EXECUTIVE SESSION

Betty Carlisle, made a motion, Norma Banks seconded, and the Board voted unanimously to enter into Executive Session in accordance with O.C.G.A. §§ 43-1-2(k), 43-1-9(h) and 50-14-2(1), to deliberate information on applications and complaint matters, and to receive information on applications, complaint reports, pending cases.

At the conclusion of the Executive Session, Cynthia Stein declared the meeting to be **“open”** pursuant to the Open and Public Meeting Act O.C.G.A. § 50-14-1 et seq. No Board votes were obtained during Executive Session.

OPEN SESSION

COMPLAINTS

COS150664 – Send for inspection.

COS150744- Send to enforcement for investigation.

COS150780- Send to Attorney General for suspension of license for 3 months, followed by probation to run concurrent with criminal probation.

COSA150812- Send for inspection.

COS150818- Send to enforcement for investigation for examination of school records and supplies and equipment to ensure compliance.

COS150819- Close complaint.

COS141207- Approve reinstatement of Cosmetology License and Approval of reinstatement of salon license.

Kay Kendrick motioned to accept the Boards recommendations regarding the Complaint's Report, Betty Carlisle seconded and the Board voted unanimously in favor. None opposed, motioned carried.

CLOSED COMPLAINTS

Kay Kendrick made a motioned, Betty Carlisle seconded, and the Board voted unanimously to accept the Board's recommendation to close the following twenty (20) complaints. None opposed, motioned carried.

COS150717	COS150723	COS150726	COS150727	COS150733	COS150739
COS150740	COS150746	COS150755	COS150761	COS150766	COS150778
COS150785	COS150794	COS150796	COS150813	COS150815	COS150842
COS150952	COS151039				

APPROVAL OF EXECUTIVE SESSION MINUTES

Betty Carlisle motioned, Norma Banks seconded and the Board voted unanimously to approve the executive session minutes from the November 17, 2014 board meeting as presented. None opposed, motion carried.

SUPERVISOR'S REPORT

Applicant #2500817 A.N.R.- (Master Cosmetologist-Reciprocity)- Applicant must sit for the practical exams and issue license upon passing.

Applicant #2482971 T.G.- (Master Cosmetologist-Reciprocity)- Applicant must sit for the practical exams and issue license upon passing.

Applicant #2498015 S.S.J.- (Master Cosmetology-Reciprocity)- Applicant must sit for the practical exams and issue license upon passing.

Applicant #2485211 K.A.H.- (Cosmetology Instructor-Reciprocity)-Deny reciprocity due to

applicant not meeting licensure qualifications.

Applicant #2511857 R.L.T.- (Cosmetology Instructor-Reciprocity)- Applicant must sit for the written and practical exams and issue license upon passing.

Applicant #2512128 M.E.D.- (Esthetician-Reciprocity)-Deny reciprocity due to applicant not meeting licensure qualifications.

Applicant #2472880 H.J.K. -(Master Cosmetologist-Reciprocity)-Deny reciprocity due to applicant not meeting licensure qualifications.

Applicant #2486868 P.P.-(Master Cosmetologist-Reciprocity)-Applicant must sit for the written and practical exams and issue license upon passing.

Applicant #2500695 N.L.W.- (Master Cosmetology -Reciprocity)- Approve applicant for licensure.

Applicant #2463610 A.S.W.-(Master Cosmetology-Reciprocity)-Deny reciprocity due to applicant not meeting licensure qualifications.

Applicant #2390711 T.C.- (Nail Instructor-Reciprocity)- Deny reciprocity due to applicant not meeting licensure qualifications.

Applicant #2284980 G.B.- (Nail Instructor-Reciprocity)- Deny reciprocity due to applicant not meeting licensure qualifications

Applicant #2505188 E.B.- (Master Cosmetologist-Reciprocity)- Applicant must sit for the written and practical exams and issue license upon passing.

Applicant#2503212 K.D.Q.T.-(Esthetician-Reciprocity)-Deny reciprocity due to applicant not meeting licensure qualifications.

Applicant #2286068 A.R.-(Master Cosmetologist-Initial by Exam)-Approve for letter of eligibility to sit for exam.

Applicant #2303264 B.Q.-(Master Cosmetologist-Initial Exam)-Approve for letter of eligibility to sit for exam.

Applicant #2513785 B.S.- (Master Cosmetologist-Reinstatement)- Accept Continuing Education and approve applicant for reinstatement .

Applicant #2496666 G.R.A.O.C.-(Cosmetology School Application)-Table

Applicant #2505951 C.C.-(Master Cosmetologist-Reinstatement)- Approve one time Continuing Education waiver.

Applicant #980911 L.T.N.- (Nail Technician Apprentice-Late Renewal Application)- Approve applicant for licensure.

Applicant #2515020 A.E.-(Master Cosmetologist-Reinstatement)-Refer to Legal Services for a

Consent Agreement for Licensure to include probation to run concurrent with criminal probation, with stipulation that fine must be paid in full. Authorize Executive Director to sign with express permission for the Board Chair, Cynthia Stein, and docket upon receipt.

Applicant #2518528 M.G.M.-(Master Cosmetologist-Reinstatement)- Refer to Legal Services for a Consent Agreement for Licensure to include probation to run concurrent with criminal probation, with stipulation that fine must be paid in full. Authorize Executive Director to sign with express permission for the Board Chair, Cynthia Stein, and docket upon receipt.

Applicant #2312991L.S.-(Master Cosmetologist-Reciprocity)-Rescind previous motion and Approve applicant for licensure.

Applicant #2474295 S.H.-(Nail Technician-Reciprocity)- Rescind previous motion and Applicant must sit for the written and practical exams and issue license upon passing.

Applicant #2461097 M.F.-(Master Cosmetologist-Reciprocity)-Rescind previous motion and Applicant must sit for the written and practical exams and issue license upon passing.

Applicant #2464238 S.T.-(Master Cosmetologist-Reciprocity)- Rescind previous motion and Applicant must sit for the practical exams and issue license upon passing.

Belinda Sanders made a motion to accept the Board's recommendations regarding the Supervisor's Report, Dana Love seconded and the Board voted unanimously in favor. None opposed, motion carried.

LEGAL SERVICES REPORT

Applicant #2448656 K.M.C. - (Initial Master Cosmetology License)-Approve applicant for licensure.

Applicant #2504190 M.M.W.-(Initial Master Cosmetology License)-Approve applicant for licensure.

Applicant #2470004 E.C.Y.-(Initial Master Cosmetology License) - Approve applicant for licensure.

Applicant #2477676 J.L.T.-(Initial Cosmetology Apprentice License)-Deny applicant for licensure.

Applicant # 2505790 J.L.T.-(Initial Master Cosmetology License)- Approve applicant for licensure.

Applicant #2289708 S.S.L.-(Master Cosmetology-License)- Approve applicant for licensure.

Applicant #1797450 S.S.L.-(Initial Cosmetology Apprentice License)- Deny applicant for licensure.

Applicant #2481332 E.R.H.S.-(Initial Salon License)- Approve applicant for licensure.

Applicant #2499302 M.M.- (Master Cosmetology Reinstatement)- Approve applicant for licensure.

Applicant #2499462 R.U.-(Master Cosmetology Reinstatement) – Refer to Legal Services for a Consent Agreement for Licensure to include probation to run concurrent with criminal probation. Authorize Executive Director to sign with express permission for the Board Chair, Cynthia Stein, and docket upon receipt.

Applicant #2505509 A.K.B.-(Initial Master Cosmetology License)- Refer to Legal Services for a Consent Agreement for Licensure to include probation to run concurrent with criminal probation. Authorize Executive Director to sign with express permission for the Board Chair, Cynthia Stein, and docket upon receipt.

Applicant #2488742 T.H.H. -(Initial Master Cosmetology License)- Refer to Legal Services for a Consent Agreement for Licensure to include probation to run concurrent with criminal probation. Authorize Executive Director to sign with express permission for the Board Chair, Cynthia Stein, and docket upon receipt.

Applicant #2498791 T.A.-(Initial Master Cosmetology License)-Approve applicant for licensure.

Applicant #2475760 L.C.- (Cosmetology Instructor License by Reciprocity)- Approve applicant for licensure.

Applicant #2458467 S.K.W. -(Initial Cosmetology Apprentice)- Refer to Legal Services for a Consent Agreement for Licensure to include probation to run concurrent with criminal probation. Authorize Executive Director to sign with express permission for the Board Chair, Cynthia Stein, and docket upon receipt.

Applicant #875150 S.D.R.- (Master Cosmetology Renewal)- Refer to Legal Services for a Consent Agreement for Licensure to include probation to run concurrent with criminal probation. Authorize Executive Director to sign with express permission for the Board Chair, Cynthia Stein, and docket upon receipt.

Kay Kendrick made a motion to accept the Board’s recommendations regarding the Legal Services Report, Betty Carlisle seconded and the Board voted unanimously in favor. None opposed, motion carried.

Board Chair Cynthia Stein appointed James Hutcheson, DRee Church-Krohn, Betty Carlisle, and Kay Kendrick to serve as members of the Legislative Committee to assist with the proposed legislation.

Board Chair Cynthia Stein informed the Board members that the annual election of officers is routinely conducted in December and opened the floor for nominations for Chair and Vice-Chair. Ms. Stein nominated DRee-Krohn as chair, with Kay Kendrick as Vice-Chair. Belinda Sanders nominated Kay Kendrick as Chair, with DRee-Krohn as Vice-Chair. James Hutcheson motioned to close nominations and called for the vote. Betty Carlisle seconded the motion, and the Board voted unanimously to accept the motion. None opposed, motion carried. Votes were cast by written ballot.

After votes were tallied, Kay Kendrick was voted by the majority of members to be Chair for coming

year, and DRee Church-Krohn was voted by the majority of members as Vice-chair.

The next scheduled meeting of the Georgia State Board of Cosmetology is a conference call Monday, January 26, 2014 at the Professional Licensing Boards Division, 237 Coliseum Drive, Macon, Georgia.

There being no further business the meeting adjourned at 4:10 p.m.

CYNTHIA STEIN
Cynthia Stein, Chairperson

Steve Lindsey
Steve Lindsey, Executive Director

These minutes were approved on: January 26, 2015

TITLE 43. PROFESSIONS AND BUSINESSES CHAPTER 10. COSMETOLOGISTS AND BARBERS

§ 43-10-1. Definitions As used in this chapter, the term:

- (1) "Beautician" means "cosmetologist" as such term is defined in this Code section.
- (2) "Beauty shop" or "beauty salon" or "Barber Shop" means any premises where one or more persons engage in the occupation of barbering or cosmetology. All mobile units including kiosks, carts, mobile homes, trailers, and motor homes shall not be licensed as beauty shops, beauty salons or barber shops unless they meet all requirements of the Boards and are permanently anchored to the ground with wheels detached.
- (3) "Board" means the State Board of Barbers and Cosmetology.
- (4) "Cosmetologist" means any person who performs any one or more of the following services for compensation:
 - (A) Cuts or dresses the hair;
 - (B) Gives facial or scalp massage or facial and scalp treatment with oils or creams and other preparations made for this purpose, either by hand or mechanical appliance;
 - (C) Singes and shampoos the hair, colors or dyes the hair, or does permanent waving of the hair;
 - (D) Performs nail care, pedicure, or manicuring services as defined in paragraph (9) of this Code section; or
 - (E) Performs the services of an esthetician as defined in paragraph (5) of this Code section. Such person shall be considered as practicing the occupation of a cosmetologist within the meaning of this Code section; provided, however, that such term shall not mean a person who only braids the hair by hairweaving; interlocking; twisting; plaiting; wrapping by hand, adhesive, chemical, or mechanical devices; or using any natural or synthetic fiber for extensions to the hair, and no such person shall be subject to the provisions of this chapter. Such term shall not apply to a person whose activities are limited to the application of cosmetics which are marketed to individuals and are readily commercially available to consumers.
- (5) "Esthetician" or "esthetics operator" means a person who, for compensation, engages in any one or a combination of the following practices, esthetics, or cosmetic skin care:
 - (A) Massaging the face, ~~or~~ neck, décolletage, or arms of a person;
 - (B) Trimming, tweezing, shaping, or threading eyebrows;
 - (C) Dyeing eyelashes or eyebrows or applying eyelash extensions; or
 - (D) Waxing, threading, stimulating, cleansing, or beautifying the face, neck, arms, shoulders, back, chest or legs of a person by any method with the aid of the hands or any mechanical or electrical apparatus or by the use of a cosmetic preparation.

Such practices of esthetics shall not include the diagnosis, treatment, or therapy of any dermatological condition or the use of lasers. Such term shall not apply to a person whose activities are limited to the application of cosmetics which are marketed to individuals and are readily commercially available to consumers.

- (6) ~~Reserved.~~ "Master Barber" means any person who performs any one or more of the following services for compensation:
 - (A) Shaving or trimming the beard;
 - (B) Cutting or dressing the hair;
 - (C) Giving facial or scalp massages;
 - (D) Giving facial or scalp treatment with oils or cream or other preparations made for this purpose, either by hand or by means of mechanical appliances; or

(E) Singeing and shampooing the hair, coloring or dyeing the hair, or permanently waving or straightening the hair of any living person.

(6a) "Barber apprentice" means any person who practices barbering under the constant and direct supervision of a licensed master barber.

(6b) "Barber II" means anyone who performs any one or more of the following services for compensation:

(A) Shaving or trimming the beard;

(B) Cutting or dressing the hair;

(C) Giving facial or scalp massages; or

(D) Giving facial or scalp treatment with oils or cream or other preparations made for this purpose, either by hand or by means of mechanical appliances.

(7) "Hair designer" means any person who performs any one or more of the following services for compensation:

(A) Cuts or dresses the hair; or

(B) Singes and shampoos the hair, applies a permanent or relaxer to hair, or colors or dyes the hair.

(8) "Master cosmetologist" means a cosmetologist who is possessed of the requisite skill and knowledge to perform properly all the services mentioned in paragraph (4) of this Code section for compensation.

(9) "Nail technician" means a person who, for compensation, performs manicures and pedicures and trims, files, shapes, decorates, applies sculptured or otherwise artificial nails extensions, massages the arms, feet, and legs, or in any way cares for the nails of another person.

(10) "School of cosmetology" means any establishment that receives compensation for training more than one person in the occupation of cosmetology as defined in paragraph (4) of this Code section. Technical colleges whose programs have been approved by the ~~Department of Technical and Adult Education~~ Technical College System of Georgia or the Department of Education are not "schools of cosmetology" within the meaning of this chapter; provided, however, that all such colleges and their programs shall be considered to be "board approved."

(11) "School of esthetics" means any establishment that receives compensation for training more than one person in the occupation of esthetics as defined in paragraph (5) of this Code section. Technical colleges whose programs have been approved by the ~~Department of Technical and Adult Education~~ Technical College System of Georgia or the Department of Education are not "schools of esthetics" within the meaning of this chapter; provided, however, that all such colleges and their programs shall be considered to be "board approved."

(12) Reserved.

(13) "School of hair design" means any establishment that receives compensation for training more than one person in the occupation of hair design as defined in paragraph (7) of this Code section. Technical colleges whose programs have been approved by the ~~Department of Technical and Adult Education or the Department of Education~~ Technical College System of Georgia are not schools of hair design within the meaning of this chapter; provided, however, that all such colleges and their programs shall be considered to be "board approved."

(14) "School of nail care" means any establishment that receives compensation for training more than one person in the occupation of nail care or manicuring as defined in paragraph (9) of this Code section. Technical colleges whose programs have been approved by the ~~Department of Technical and Adult Education~~ Technical College System of Georgia or the Department of Education are not "schools of nail care" within the meaning of this chapter; provided, however, that all such colleges and their programs shall be considered to be "board approved."

(15) "Barber Schools" means any establishment that receives compensation for training more than one person in the occupation of barbering as defined in paragraph (6) of this Code section. Technical

colleges whose programs have been approved by the Department of Technical and Adult Education Technical College System of Georgia or the Department of Education are not "barbering schools" within the meaning of this chapter; provided, however, that all such colleges and their programs shall be considered to be "board approved."

HISTORY: Ga. L. 1963, p. 45, §§ 1, 2; Ga. L. 1966, p. 195, § 1; Ga. L. 1983, p. 1219, § 1; Ga. L. 1985, p. 1057, § 1; Ga. L. 1986, p. 843, § 1; Ga. L. 1996, p. 1239, § 4; Ga. L. 2000, p. 814, § 1; Ga. L. 2001, p. 1077, § 1; Ga. L. 2006, p. 904, § 1/SB 145.

§ 43-10-2. Creation of board; members, meetings, officers, and powers

(a) There is created the State Board of Cosmetology and Barbers. The board shall consist of nine members who shall be residents of this state. The board shall have the duty of carrying out and enforcing this chapter.

(b) Members of the board shall be at least 25 years of age and have obtained a high school diploma, a general educational development (GED) diploma, or a postsecondary education or college degree; and five two of such members must have had at least five years of practical experience in the practice of cosmetology at the master level, a portion of which must have been as a beauty salon owner or manager. One member of the board must have had at least five years of practical experience in the practice of cosmetology at the esthetician level. One member of the board must have had at least five years of practical experience as a manicurist nail technician. Two members of the board must have had at least five years of practical experience in the practice of barbering at the master level. One member must be an instructor in a barber school. One member must be an instructor in a cosmetology school. Two members shall not have any connection with the practice or business of barbering or cosmetology whatsoever but shall have a recognized interest in consumer affairs and in consumer protection concerns.

(c) The board shall meet as necessary each year for the purpose of adopting rules and regulations and handling other matters pertaining to duties of the board. Board members may attend and observe all written and practical examinations held for certificates of registration pursuant to this chapter. Beginning on July 1, 2015, the Georgia State Board of Cosmetology and Barbers shall regulate barbering and cosmetology in Georgia. The Board shall operate under the rules of the previous Georgia State Board of Barbers and Georgia State Board of Cosmetology until the Board can promulgate one set of rules and regulations governing its profession; these rules shall be adopted by July 1, 2016.

~~(d) Reserved. No member of the board shall be affiliated with any school of barbering or cosmetology. Two members shall not have any connection with the practice or business of cosmetology whatsoever but shall have a recognized interest in consumer affairs and in consumer protection concerns. No member of the board shall be affiliated or connected in any manner with any manufacturer or wholesale or jobbing house dealing with supplies sold to practitioners of cosmetology while in office.~~

(e) Board members shall be appointed by the Governor for a term of three years and until their successors are appointed and qualified. Vacancies shall be filled by the Governor for the unexpired portion of the term. The board may do all things necessary for carrying this chapter into effect and may, from time to time, promulgate necessary rules and regulations compatible with this chapter. The Governor may remove any board member for cause as provided in Code Section 43-1-17.

(f) Each year the members shall elect a chairman from among themselves. In the event the members cannot agree as to who shall be chairman, the Governor shall appoint one of such members as chairman. ~~The chairman so elected or appointed shall be eligible to succeed himself or herself.~~ The members of the board shall be considered public officers and shall take the oath required thereof.

(g) The board shall adopt a seal to be used to authenticate all its official papers and acts and shall have power to subpoena witnesses, administer oaths, and hear and take testimony in any matter over which it may have jurisdiction.

(h) All investigative and disciplinary authority of the previous Georgia State Board of Barbers and Georgia State Board of Cosmetology shall carry over to the Board. This authority shall include, but is not limited to, the ability to:

- (1) Enforce all fines issued by these boards or representatives thereof;
- (2) Enforce all orders entered by these boards; and
- (3) Access and keep all complaints, investigative records, and records of disciplinary deliberations of these boards.

HISTORY: Ga. L. 1963, p. 45, §§ 4, 8; Ga. L. 1966, p. 195, § 2; Ga. L. 1979, p. 1327, § 2; Ga. L. 1980, p. 1420, § 1; Ga. L. 1983, p. 1219, § 2; Ga. L. 1985, p. 1057, § 2; Ga. L. 1986, p. 843, § 2; Ga. L. 2000, p. 814, § 1; Ga. L. 2001, Ex. Sess., p. 321, § 1; Ga. L. 2002, p. 415, § 43; Ga. L. 2004, p. 617, § 2; Ga. L. 2006, p. 904, § 2/SB 145; Ga. L. 2006, p. 917, § 1/HB 1170.

§ 43-10-3. Reimbursement of board members

Each member of the board shall be reimbursed as provided for in subsection (f) of Code Section 43-1-2. **HISTORY:** Ga. L. 1963, p. 45, § 6; Ga. L. 1966, p. 195, § 3; Ga. L. 1979, p. 1327, § 4; Ga. L. 1980, p. 1420, § 4; Ga. L. 2000, p. 814, § 1. § 43-10-4. Annual financial report of board Reserved. Repealed by Ga. L. 1985, p. 1057, § 3, effective July 1, 1985. [Repealed]

§ 43-10-5. Records of board generally

The division director shall keep a record of all proceedings of the board. Such records shall be prima-facie evidence of all matters required to be kept therein, and certified copies of the same or parts thereof shall be primary evidence of their contents. All such copies, other documents, or certificates lawfully issued upon the authority of the board shall, when authenticated under the seal of the board, be admitted in any investigation in any court or elsewhere without further proof.

HISTORY: Ga. L. 1963, p. 45, § 14; Ga. L. 2000, p. 814, § 1; Ga. L. 2000, p. 1706, § 19.

§ 43-10-6. Rules and regulations as to sanitary requirements; instruction on HIV and AIDS; inspections; unsanitary condition as nuisance

(a) The board is authorized to adopt reasonable rules and regulations prescribing the sanitary requirements of beauty shops, beauty salons, ~~barbershops~~, schools of cosmetology, schools of esthetics, schools of hair design, ~~and~~ schools of nail care, ~~and~~ schools of barbering subject to the approval of the Department of Public Health, and to cause the rules and regulations or any subsequent revisions to be in suitable form. The board shall make the rules and regulations available to the proprietor of each beauty shop, beauty salon, ~~barbershop~~, school of cosmetology, school of esthetics, school of hair design, ~~or~~ school of nail care, ~~or~~ school of barbering. It shall be the duty of every proprietor or person operating a beauty shop, salon, ~~barbershop~~, school of cosmetology, school of esthetics, school of hair design, ~~and~~ school of nail care, ~~and~~ school of barbering in this state to keep a copy of such rules and regulations posted in a conspicuous place in his or her business, so as to be easily read by his or her customers. Posting the rules by electronic means is acceptable.

(b) The board is authorized to adopt reasonable rules and regulations requiring that persons licensed under this chapter undergo instruction on Human Immunodeficiency Virus and Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome.

(c) Any inspector employed by the Secretary of State shall have the power to enter and make reasonable examination of any beauty shop, salon, ~~barbershop~~ or school of cosmetology, school of esthetics, school of hair design, ~~and~~ school of nail care, ~~and~~ school of barbering in the state during

business hours for the purpose of enforcing the rules and regulations of the board and for the purpose of ascertaining the sanitary conditions thereof.

(d) Any beauty shop, salon, barbershop or school of cosmetology, school of esthetics, school of hair design, and school of nail care, and school of barbering in which tools, appliances, and furnishings used therein are kept in an unclean and unsanitary condition so as to endanger health is declared to be a public nuisance.

HISTORY: Ga. L. 1963, p. 45, § 5; Ga. L. 1967, p. 727, § 1; Ga. L. 1979, p. 1327, § 3; Ga. L. 1980, p. 1420, §§ 2, 3; Ga. L. 1985, p. 1057, § 4; Ga. L. 2000, p. 814, § 1; Ga. L. 2000, p. 1706, § 19; Ga. L. 2006, p. 904, § 3/SB 145; Ga. L. 2009, p. 453, § 1-4/HB 228; Ga. L. 2010, p. 266, § 19/SB 195; Ga. L. 2011, p. 705, § 6-3/HB 214.

§ 43-10-7. Issuance of certificates of registration

It shall be the duty of the board to issue through the division director those certificates of registration for which provision is made in this chapter. **HISTORY:** Ga. L. 1963, p. 45, § 8; Ga. L. 2000, p. 814, § 1; Ga. L. 2000, p. 1706, § 19.

§ 43-10-8. Certificate of registration required

(a) It shall be unlawful for any person to pursue the occupation of cosmetology in this state unless he or she has first completed the required hours for and obtained the appropriate certificate of registration as provided in this chapter.

(b) It shall be unlawful for any person to hold himself or herself out as a master cosmetologist ~~or hair designer~~ without having first obtained the certificate of registration for such. Such person shall be authorized to perform all the services mentioned in paragraph (4) of Code Section 43-10-1. Nothing in this chapter shall prohibit any person who holds a valid master cosmetologist license in this state on March 29, 1983, from practicing at the master cosmetologist level as defined in paragraph (4) of Code Section 43-10-1.

(c) ~~Reserved. It shall be unlawful for any person to hold himself or herself out as a master barber, barber II, barber instructor, or barber apprentice without having first obtained the certificate of registration for such. Such person shall be authorized to perform all the services mentioned in paragraph (6) of Code Section 43-10-1.~~

(d) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this chapter, any person desiring to perform solely hair design services shall be allowed to obtain a certificate of registration at the hair design level upon completing the required hours therefor, which certifies that the holder thereof shall be authorized to perform some or all of the services mentioned in paragraph (7) of Code Section 43-10-1.

(e) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this chapter, any person desiring to perform solely cosmetic skin care services shall be allowed to obtain a certificate of registration at the esthetician level upon completing the required hours therefor, which certifies that the holder thereof shall be authorized to perform some or all of the services mentioned in paragraph (5) of Code Section 43-10-1.

(f) (1) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this chapter, any person desiring to perform solely cosmetic nail care services shall be allowed to obtain a certificate of registration at the nail technician level upon completing the required hours therefor, which certifies that the holder thereof shall be authorized to perform some or all of the services mentioned in paragraph (6) of Code Section 43-10-1.

(2) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this chapter, any Active U.S. military personnel or their spouse person who has actively engaged in the practice of licensed as a master barber, barber II, master cosmetologist, hair designer, esthetician, or nail technician ~~cosmetology, hair design, esthetics, or nail care on a U.S. military installation in Georgia~~ for three two years prior to the date of their application ~~prior to July 1, 1985~~, shall be eligible to receive a certificate of registration at the

~~barbering, cosmetology, hair design, esthetics, or nail care level upon proper proof of experience, approval of completed application, and appropriate fee. being submitted to the board, on or before September 1, 1985.~~

(g) It shall also be unlawful for any person or persons to operate a beauty shop, beauty salon, ~~barbershop, hair design salon,~~ school of cosmetology, school of hair design, school of esthetics, ~~or~~ school of nail care, or school of barbering without first having obtained a certificate of registration for such shop, salon, or school as provided in this chapter. Any beauty shop, salon, ~~barbershop, or school of cosmetology, school of hair design, school of esthetics, or school of nail care, school of barbering~~ shall register with the division director of the professional licensing boards prior to opening.

(h) This chapter shall have uniform application throughout the state so that no cosmetologist, hair designer, nail technician, esthetician, barber, beauty shop, beauty salon, barbershop, school of cosmetology, school of hair design, school of esthetics, ~~or~~ school of nail care, or school of barbering shall be exempt from regulation. **HISTORY:** Ga. L. 1963, p. 45, § 3; Ga. L. 1979, p. 1327, § 1; Ga. L. 1983, p. 1219, § 3; Ga. L. 1985, p. 1057, §§ 5, 6; Ga. L. 1986, p. 10, § 43; Ga. L. 2000, p. 814, § 1; Ga. L. 2000, p. 1706, § 19; Ga. L. 2006, p. 904, § 4/SB 145.

§ 43-10-9. Application for certificate of registration; examination; work permit; reciprocity; endorsement; study at technical college or public school; ~~eligibility of licensed barber~~

(a) Any person desiring to obtain a certificate of registration to enable him or her to engage in the occupation of cosmetology shall make application through the division director to the board and shall present proof that he or she has obtained a high school diploma, a general educational development (GED) diploma, or a postsecondary education or college degree. If, after review of the application, it is determined that the applicant is at least 17 years of age; has met the minimum educational requirements; is of good moral character; has completed a 1,500 credit hour study course with at least nine months at a board approved school or has served as an apprentice in a beauty shop, ~~or~~ beauty salon, or barbershop for a period of at least 3,000 credit hours; has practiced or studied the occupation of cosmetology; is possessed of the requisite skill in such occupation to perform properly all the duties of the occupation, including his or her ability in the preparation of tools, in performing the services mentioned in paragraph (4) of Code Section 43-10-1, and in all the duties and services incident thereto; and has passed both a written and a practical examination approved by the board, a certificate of registration shall be issued to him or her entitling him or her to practice the occupation of master cosmetologist. ~~Notwithstanding any other provisions of this subsection, the board shall be authorized to waive any education requirements under this subsection in cases of hardship, disability, or illness or under such other circumstances as the board deems appropriate with respect to any applicant who was enrolled in a board approved school or had completed a board approved study course as of June 30, 2000.~~

~~(b) Should an applicant under this Code section fail to pass the written or the practical examination, the board shall furnish the applicant a statement in writing, stating wherein the applicant was deficient. Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent applicants from making subsequent applications to qualify under this Code section, provided they again pay the required examination fee. Reserved.~~

~~(c) An approved applicant for examination under this Code section may be issued a work permit authorizing said applicant to practice such occupation until the release of the results of the written and the practical examination for which the applicant is scheduled. If the applicant fails to appear for the examination or fails any portion of the examination, the work permit shall be revoked unless the applicant provides just cause to the board as to why the applicant was unable to appear for the examination.~~

~~(b)(d) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this subsection, the Board shall allow endorsement~~

~~to an applicant who submits a complete application, along with a fee, and verification that he or she holds an active cosmetology license or the teaching of cosmetology at that level in another U.S. state or territory. The Board may pass requirements for endorsement by rule. Should an applicant have hold a current cosmetology license in force from another state or country, or territory of the United States, or the District of Columbia, where similar reciprocity is extended to this state and licensure requirements are substantially equal to those in this state, and pays have paid a fee and submits submitted an application, the applicant may be issued, without examination, a certificate of registration at the appropriate level, entitling the applicant to practice the occupation of cosmetology or the teaching of cosmetology at that level, unless the board, in its discretion, sees fit to require a written or a practical examination subject to the terms and provisions of this chapter. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this subsection, the board shall be authorized to waive any education or experience requirements applicable to any person who holds a current license or certificate to practice cosmetology outside of this state and who desires to obtain a license or certificate at a level authorized under this Code section to practice at such level in this state in cases of hardship, disability, or illness or under such other circumstances as the board deems appropriate.~~

~~(e) Reserved.~~ (c) Any person desiring to obtain a certificate of registration as a master barber under the terms of this chapter shall make application through the division director to the board and shall present proof that he or she has obtained a high school diploma, a general educational development (GED) diploma, or a postsecondary education or college degree. If, after review of the application, it is determined that the applicant is at least 16 years of age; has met the minimum educational requirements; is of good moral character; has completed a 1500 credit hour study course of at least nine months at a board approved school or has served as an apprentice in a beauty shop, beauty salon, or barbershop for a period of at least 3,000 credit hours; has practiced or studied barbering; is possessed of the requisite skill to perform properly these services; and has passed both a written and a practical examination approved by the board, a certificate of registration shall be issued to the applicant entitling the applicant to practice the occupation of barbering at the master level.

(d) Any person desiring to obtain a certificate of registration as a Barber II under the terms of this chapter shall make application through the division director to the board and shall present proof that he or she has obtained a high school diploma, a general educational development (GED) diploma, or a postsecondary education or college degree. If, after review of the application, it is determined that the applicant is at least 16 years of age; has met the minimum educational requirements; is of good moral character; has completed a 1140 credit hour study course of at least seven months at a board approved school or has served as an apprentice in a beauty shop, beauty salon, or barbershop for a period of at least 2280 credit hours; has practiced or studied barbering; is possessed of the requisite skill to perform properly these services; and has passed both a written and a practical examination approved by the board, a certificate of registration shall be issued to the applicant entitling the applicant to practice the occupation of barbering at the Barber II level.

(2) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this subsection, the Board shall allow endorsement to an applicant who submits a complete application, along with a fee, and verification that he or she holds an active barber license in another U.S. state or territory. The Board may pass requirements for endorsement by rule. Should an applicant have a current barber license in force from another state, country, territory of the United States, or the District of Columbia, where similar reciprocity is extended to this state and licensure requirements are substantially equal to those in this state, and have paid a fee and have submitted an application, the applicant may be issued, without examination, a certificate of registration entitling him or her to practice the occupation of barbering or the teaching of barbering, unless the board, in its discretion, sees fit to require a written or a practical examination subject to the terms and provisions of this chapter.

~~(d)(f)~~ (1) Any person desiring to obtain a certificate of registration to enable him or her to engage in the occupation of hair design shall make application through the division director and shall present proof that he or she has obtained a high school diploma, a general educational development (GED) diploma, or a postsecondary education or college degree. If, after review of the application, it is determined that the applicant is at least 17 years of age; has met the minimum educational requirements; is of good moral character; has completed a 1,325 credit hour study course with at least seven months at a board approved school or has served as an apprentice in a beauty shop, beauty salon, ~~or hair design salon, or barbershop~~ for a period of at least 2,650 credit hours; has practiced or studied the occupation of hair design; is possessed of the requisite skill in such occupation to perform properly all the duties of the occupation, including his or her ability in the preparation of tools, in performing the services mentioned in paragraph (7) of Code Section 43-10-1, and in all the duties and services incident thereto; and has passed both a written and a practical examination approved by the board, a certificate of registration shall be issued to him or her entitling him or her to practice the occupation of hair design. ~~Notwithstanding any other provisions of this subsection, the board shall be authorized to waive any education requirements under this subsection in cases of hardship, disability, or illness or under such other circumstances as the board deems appropriate with respect to any applicant who was enrolled in a board approved school or had completed a board approved study course as of June 30, 2006.~~

~~(2) Should an applicant under this subsection fail to pass the written or the practical examination, the board shall furnish the applicant a statement in writing, stating in what manner the applicant was deficient. Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent applicants from making subsequent applications to qualify under this subsection, provided they again pay the required examination fee.~~

~~(3) (2) An approved applicant for examination under this subsection may be issued a work permit authorizing said applicant to practice such occupation until the release of the results of the written and the practical examination for which the applicant is scheduled. If the applicant fails to appear for the examination or fails any portion of the examination, the work permit shall be revoked unless the applicant provides just cause to the board as to why the applicant was unable to appear for the examination.~~

~~(4) (2) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this subsection, the Board shall allow endorsement to an applicant who submits a complete application, along with a fee, and verification that he or she holds an active hair designer license or the teaching of hair designing in another U.S. state or territory. The Board may pass requirements for endorsement by rule. Should an applicant have a current hair design license in force from another state, country, territory of the United States, or the District of Columbia, where similar reciprocity is extended to this state and licensure requirements are substantially equal to those in this state, and have paid a fee and have submitted an application, the applicant may be issued, without examination, a certificate of registration at the appropriate level entitling him or her to practice the occupation of hair design or the teaching of hair design at that level, unless the board, in its discretion, sees fit to require a written or a practical examination subject to the terms and provisions of this chapter. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this subsection, the board shall be authorized to waive any education or experience requirements applicable to any person who holds a current license or certificate to practice hair design outside of this state and who desires to obtain a license or certificate at a level authorized under this subsection to practice at such level in this state in cases of hardship, disability, or illness or under such other circumstances as the board deems appropriate.~~

~~(e) (g)~~(1) Any person desiring to obtain a certificate of registration at the esthetician level under the terms of this chapter shall make application through the division director to the board and shall present proof that he or she has obtained a high school diploma, a general educational development (GED) diploma, or a postsecondary education or college degree. If, after review of the application, it is determined that the applicant is at least 17 years of age; has met the minimum educational

requirements; is of good moral character; has completed a 1,000 credit hour study course of at least nine months at a board approved school or has served as an apprentice in a beauty shop, ~~or~~ beauty salon, or barbershop for a period of at least 2,000 credit hours; has practiced or studied cosmetic skin care as defined in paragraph (5) of Code Section 43-10-1; is possessed of the requisite skill to perform properly these services; and has passed a written and a practical examination approved by the board, a certificate of registration shall be issued to the applicant entitling the applicant to practice the occupation of cosmetology at the esthetician level. ~~Notwithstanding any other provisions of this subsection, the board shall be authorized to waive any education requirements under this subsection in cases of hardship, disability, or illness or under such other circumstances as the board deems appropriate with respect to any applicant who was enrolled in a board approved school or had completed a board approved study course as of June 30, 2000.~~

(2) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this subsection, the Board shall allow endorsement to an applicant who submits a complete application, along with a fee, and verification that he or she holds an active esthetician license or the teaching of esthetics in another U.S. state or territory. The Board may pass requirements for endorsement by rule. ~~Should an applicant have a current esthetician license in force from another state, country, territory of the United States, or the District of Columbia, where similar reciprocity is extended to this state and licensure requirements are substantially equal to those in this state, and have paid a fee and have submitted an application, the applicant may be issued, without examination, a certificate of registration at the appropriate level entitling him or her to practice the occupation of esthetician or the teaching of esthetics at that level, unless the board, in its discretion, sees fit to require a written or a practical examination subject to the terms and provisions of this chapter. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this subsection, the board shall be authorized to waive any education or experience requirements applicable to any person who holds a current license or certificate to practice esthetics outside of this state and who desires to obtain a license or certificate at a level authorized under this subsection to practice at such level in this state in cases of hardship, disability, or illness or under such other circumstances as the board deems appropriate.~~

~~(f)~~(h) (1) Any person desiring to obtain a certificate of registration at the nail technician level under the terms of this chapter shall make application through the division director to the board and shall present proof that he or she has obtained a high school diploma, a general educational development (GED) diploma, or a postsecondary education or college degree. If, after review of the application, it is determined that the applicant is at least 17 years of age; has met the minimum educational requirements; is of good moral character; has completed a 525 credit hour study course of at least four months at a board approved school or has served as an apprentice in a beauty shop, ~~or~~ beauty salon, or barbershop for a period of at least 1,050 credit hours; has practiced or studied nail care; is possessed of the requisite skill to perform properly these services; and has passed both a written and a practical examination approved by the board, a certificate of registration shall be issued to the applicant entitling the applicant to practice the occupation of cosmetology at the nail technician level. ~~Notwithstanding any other provisions of this subsection, the board shall be authorized to waive any education requirements under this subsection in cases of hardship, disability, or illness or under such other circumstances as the board deems appropriate with respect to any applicant who was enrolled in a board approved school or had completed a board approved study course as of June 30, 2000.~~

(2) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this subsection, the Board shall allow endorsement to an applicant who submits a complete application, along with a fee, and verification that he or she holds an active nail technician or manicurist license or the teaching of nail care license in another U.S. state or territory. The Board may pass requirements for endorsement by rule. ~~Should an applicant have a current nail technician license in force from another state, country, territory of the United States, or the District of Columbia, where similar reciprocity is extended to this state and licensure requirements are substantially equal to those in this state, and have paid a fee and have submitted an~~

~~application, the applicant may be issued, without examination, a certificate of registration at the appropriate level entitling him or her to practice the occupation of nail technician or the teaching of nail care at that level, unless the board, in its discretion, sees fit to require a written or a practical examination subject to the terms and provisions of this chapter. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this subsection, the board shall be authorized to waive any education or experience requirements applicable to any person who holds a current license or certificate to practice nail care outside of this state and who desires to obtain a license or certificate at a level authorized under this subsection to practice at such level in this state in cases of hardship, disability, or illness or under such other circumstances as the board deems appropriate.~~

(g)(i) Nothing in this Code section shall be construed as preventing a person from obtaining a certificate of registration for the occupation of cosmetology at the master level, the hair design level, the esthetician level, or the nail technician level if such person obtains his or her credit hour study at a State Board of Education approved school or a technical college under the jurisdiction of the ~~Department of Technical and Adult Education~~ Technical College System of Georgia or the Department of Education rather than at a board approved school.

~~(h)(1)~~ A person licensed to practice master barbering under ~~Chapter 7~~ of this title shall be eligible to take the master cosmetologist examination provided for in this Code section if that person completes a board approved ~~250~~ 300 hour prescribed course in an approved cosmetology school, submits a completed application, and pays the proper fees established by the board.

(2) A person licensed as a master cosmetologist under this title shall be eligible to take the master barber examination provided for in this Code section if that person completes a board approved 300 hour prescribed course in an approved barbering school, submits a completed application, and pays the proper fees established by the board.

~~(k) Board members may attend and observe all written and practical examinations held for certificates of registration pursuant to this Code section.~~

(i) For those applying on or after July 1, 2015, any applicant applying under this Code section shall pass both a Board approved written and the practical examination within a 24 month period after having obtained the required credit hours or shall be required to repeat all of such required credit hours before retaking the examination. Should an applicant under this Code section fail to pass the written or the practical examination, the board or the board's designee shall furnish the applicant a statement in writing, stating in what manner the applicant was deficient.

(j) To be considered for licensure for those applying on or after July 1, 2015, applicants applying under this Code section who have graduated from an educational program which prepares cosmetologists in another country shall submit to the board a credential's evaluation from a board approved credentials evaluation provider along with their application for licensure. Upon the Board's acceptance of the credential's evaluation, application, and appropriate fee, the applicant shall be approved to sit for the Board approved examination for licensure, and upon passing the examination, he or she may be approved for licensure.

HISTORY: Ga. L. 1963, p. 45, § 10; Ga. L. 1966, p. 195, § 5; Ga. L. 1977, p. 803, § 1; Ga. L. 1979, p. 1327, § 5; Ga. L. 1980, p. 1420, § 7; Ga. L. 1983, p. 1219, § 4; Ga. L. 1984, p. 22, § 43; Ga. L. 1985, p. 1057, § 7; Ga. L. 1986, p. 10, § 43; Ga. L. 1986, p. 843, §§ 3, 4; Ga. L. 1996, p. 1239, § 5; Ga. L. 2000, p. 814, § 1; Ga. L. 2000, p. 1706, § 19; Ga. L. 2001, p. 4, § 43; Ga. L. 2001, p. 1077, § 2; Ga. L. 2001, p. 1185, § 1; Ga. L. 2002, p. 415, § 43; Ga. L. 2006, p. 904, § 5/SB 145; Ga. L. 2006, p. 917, § 2/ HB 1170.

§ 43-10-10. Display of certificate of registration; renewal; reinstatement; continuing education requirements; exemptions

(a) The holder of any certificate of registration issued under Code Section 43-10-9 shall display the same in a conspicuous place in his or her shop or place of business. Certificates of registration issued under Code Section 43-10-9 shall be renewable biennially for a period of up to four years as approved by the division director. The holder shall pay to the division director a renewal fee in such amount as shall be set by the board by regulation. Upon failure to renew such certificate of registration, it shall stand automatically revoked. The holder shall be disqualified from practicing ~~the~~ any occupation of cosmetology under this chapter until all fees to date of application for reinstatement shall be paid, an application for reinstatement shall be submitted along with a reinstatement fee in such amount as shall be set by the board by regulation, and documentation shall be submitted of completion of all required continuing education hours since the date the registration was automatically revoked. If the board is satisfied that the applicant for reinstatement meets all the qualifications set forth in this Code section and Code Section 43-10-9, the applicant shall be issued a new certificate of registration.

(b) Notwithstanding subsection (a) of this Code section, at the time of renewal of any barber or cosmetology salon owner, master barber, Barber II, master cosmetologist, hair designer, esthetician, or nail technician certificate of registration issued under Code Section 43-10-9, the holder of such certificate shall ~~provide~~ maintain proof, in a form approved by the board, of completion of five hours of continuing education biennially to be determined by the Board. A licensee shall provide proof of completion of continuing education if audited by the Board. ~~in compliance with this Code section since the date of issuance of the latest renewal certificate.~~ A holder who is renewing a certificate for the first time shall not be required to meet the continuing education requirement until the time of the second renewal. Further, the requirement for continuing education for ~~the holder of any certificate of registration issued under this chapter shall become effective on January 1, 2003, provided that the board has adopted rules and regulations implementing this Code section pursuant to Chapter 13 of Title 50, the "Georgia Administrative Procedure Act."~~ master barbers and Barber II will become effective beginning January 1, 2018.

(c) ~~Three hours of~~ Up to four hours of continuing education shall be satisfied by a health and safety course using a curriculum or a review course of the Board rules and laws developed by the ~~Technical College System of Georgia~~ board or by a board approved provider entity. Such curriculum may be revised by the ~~Technical College System of Georgia~~ board or by a board approved provider as necessary to incorporate new developments. The ~~Technical College System of Georgia~~ Board shall make the curriculum available to ~~other~~ Board approved providers of continuing education.

(d) ~~The remaining two hours of~~ Additional continuing education may be satisfied by:

- (1) Attendance at an industry or trade show registered with the board; or
- (2) A course or courses of study registered with the board in one or more of the following subjects: health and safety, industry trends, computer skills, business management, or the holder's area of practice.

(e) To request registration of an industry or trade show for continuing education credit, a person or entity shall submit to the board the date and location of the industry or trade show. To request registration of a course of study for continuing education credit, the person or entity offering the course of study shall submit to the board an outline of the subject matter, a list of the persons teaching the course with a summary of their qualifications, the number of hours for each course, and the date and location where the course of study will be presented or has been presented, if applicable. Any certificate holder may request board approval of an unregistered industry or trade show or an unregistered course of study. A person or entity conducting an industry or trade show or a course of study shall provide written proof of attendance at the industry or trade show or completion of a course of study to all participants. The Board may charge a fee for registration of approved continuing education providers.

(f) The board shall register and allow credit as continuing education for Board approved courses conducted via the Internet or other electronic means or home study courses.

(g) Courses in cosmetology, hair design, nail technology, esthetics, computers, business, or health and safety issues offered by schools under the jurisdiction of the Board of Regents of the University System of Georgia, the ~~Department of Technical and Adult Education~~ Technical College System of Georgia, the Department of Education, or any accredited postsecondary institution shall satisfy the continuing education requirement without a request to the board for approval or registration.

(h) In no event shall the testing of knowledge or skills be required as proof of the successful completion of a continuing education course.

~~(i) For the first renewal period during which the continuing education requirement will be enforced, the board shall allow credit for continuing education hours which were board approved or which did not require prior approval by the board received between March 31, 2000, and January 1, 2002, for master cosmetologists and between August 31, 1999, and January 1, 2002, for nail technicians and estheticians. Thereafter, no excess hours from one renewal period shall be authorized to be credited toward the continuing education requirement for another renewal period.~~

(j) (i) The continuing education requirement shall not apply to certificate holders who:

(1) Have held a certificate for 25 or more years; or

(2) Demonstrate a hardship based on a disability, age, illness, or such other circumstance as the board may identify by rule and determine on a case-by-case basis. Certificate holders who claim an exemption from the continuing education requirement on the basis of paragraph (2) of this subsection shall provide a sworn statement setting out the facts supporting such exemption.

HISTORY: Ga. L. 1963, p. 45, § 13; Ga. L. 1979, p. 1327, § 9; Ga. L. 1985, p. 1057, § 8; Ga. L. 2000, p. 814, § 1; Ga. L. 2000, p. 1706, § 19; Ga. L. 2001, Ex. Sess., p. 321, § 2; Ga. L. 2006, p. 904, § 6/SB 145.

§ 43-10-11. Registration of shops, salons, and schools

All barbershops, beauty shops, salons, hair weaving and/or hair braiding salons or shops, schools of barbering, schools of cosmetology, schools of hair design, schools of esthetics, and schools of nail care shall be registered with the division director by the owner or manager. Such registration shall be made by the filing of an application on forms furnished by the division director; shall include the name and location of the ~~beauty~~ shop, salon, or school, the name and address of the owner, and the names and addresses of all instructors of the shop, salon, or school at the time of registration; and shall be accompanied by a registration fee in such amount as shall be set by the board by regulation. The Board may require salon, shop or school owners to complete a Board approved course covering health, sanitation, safety, and/or Board laws and rules prior to issuing a registration to the owner.

The board is authorized and directed to issue a certificate of registration to each shop, salon, or school so registering and paying such fee, which certificate shall be displayed in a conspicuous place in the registered shop, salon, or school. **HISTORY:** Ga. L. 1963, p. 45, § 15; Ga. L. 1979, p. 1327, § 11; Ga. L. 1985, p. 1057, § 9; Ga. L. 2000, p. 814, § 1; Ga. L. 2000, p. 1706, § 19; Ga. L. 2006, p. 904, § 7/SB 145.

§ 43-10-12. Regulation and permits for schools; teachers and instructors; registration of apprentices; certification as teacher by Department of Education

(a)(1) All schools of barbering, schools of cosmetology, schools of esthetics, schools of hair design, or schools of nail care shall:

(A) Cause to be registered with the board, at the time of opening, 15 bona fide students;

(B) Have not less than one instructor for every 20 students or a fraction thereof; and

(C) Keep permanently displayed a sign reading "School of Cosmetology," "School of Esthetics," or "School of Nail Care," "School of Hair Design," or "School of Barbering" as the case may be; and all such signs shall also display the words "Service by Students Only." Where service is rendered by a student, no commissions or premiums shall be paid to such student for work done in the schools; nor shall any person be employed by the schools to render professional service to the public.

(D) Provide transcripts to students upon graduation or withdrawal from the school provided all tuition and fees due to the school have been satisfied. Student records shall be maintained by the schools for a minimum of five years. If a school closes its business, the owner is required to provide copies of student records, including transcripts, to the Non-Public Postsecondary Education Commission within thirty days of the school closure.

(2) All schools of barbering, cosmetology, schools of esthetics, and schools of nail care are required to keep in a conspicuous place in such schools a copy of the rules and regulations adopted by the board.

(3) All master barbers or cosmetologists who take an apprentice pursuant to Code Section 43-10-14 shall file immediately with the board through the division director the name and age of such apprentice; and the board shall cause such information to be entered on a register kept by the division director for that purpose.

(b) Any person desiring to operate or conduct a school of barbering, school of cosmetology, school of esthetics, or school of nail care prior to opening shall first secure from the board a permit to do so and shall keep the permit prominently displayed in the school.

(c) The board shall have the right to pass upon the qualifications, appointments, courses of study, and hours of study in the school of barbering, school of cosmetology, school of hair design, school of esthetics, or school of nail care, provided that:

(1) All schools of cosmetology shall be required to teach the following courses: theory, permanent and cold waving, hair coloring and bleaching, hair and scalp treatments, hair and scalp conditioning, hair cutting and shaping, hairdressing, shampooing, styling, comb out, charm, reception, desk work, art and laboratory, facials, makeup and arching, skin care, nail care, state law, state rules and regulations, and any other subjects related to cosmetology and sanitation;

(2) All schools of esthetics shall be required to teach the following courses: theory, skin care, facials, makeup and arching, eyelash extensions, charm, reception, desk work, art and laboratory, massaging the face or neck, trimming, tweezing or threading eyebrows and/or other facial hair, dyeing, waxing, stimulating, cleansing, or beautifying, state law, state rules and regulations, and any other subjects related to esthetics and sanitation; and

(3) All schools of nail care shall be required to teach the following courses: theory, trimming, filing, shaping, decorating, sculpturing and artificial nails, nail care, pedicuring, charm, reception, desk work, art and laboratory, state law, state rules and regulations, and any other subjects related to nail care and sanitation.

(4) All schools of barbering shall be required to teach the following courses: theory, hair and scalp treatments, shampooing and conditioning, shaving, coloring of hair, hair cutting and styling, facial hair design and waxing, permanent waving, relaxing and chemical application.

(d)(1) The board shall have the right to suspend or revoke the certificate, permit, or license of or to reprimand any such school of barbering, school of cosmetology, school of esthetics, or school of nail care, or instructor or teacher therein, for the violation of this chapter.

(2) The board shall have the same power and authority as to sanitary conditions over schools as it has over beauty shops, ~~and~~ beauty salons, and barbershops.

(e)(1) All teachers or instructors shall devote their entire time to instruction of students. Any person desiring to teach or instruct in any school of barbering, school of cosmetology, school of esthetics, school of hair design, or school of nail care shall first file his or her application with the division

director for a license, shall pay a fee in such amount as shall be set by the board by regulation, and shall successfully pass both a written and a practical examination to become an instructor.

(2)(A) A person desiring to teach at the master level shall satisfy the board that he or she:

- (i) Holds a current cosmetology license at the master level and is a high school graduate, has a general educational development (GED) diploma, or has a postsecondary education or college degree;
- (ii) Has 750 hours of instructor training in cosmetology at a board approved school; and
- (iii) Has one year of work experience at the master level.

(B) A person holding a current cosmetology license at the master level who is a high school graduate, has a general educational development (GED) diploma, or has a postsecondary education or college degree; who has completed the required board approved hours of continuing education; and has board approved work experience as an instructor or in education may, at the board's discretion, be permitted to take the written and the practical examination to become an instructor at the master level.

(3)(A) A person desiring to teach at the esthetician level shall satisfy the board that he or she:

- (i) Holds a current cosmetology license at the esthetician or master level and is a high school graduate, has a general educational development (GED) diploma, or has a postsecondary education or college degree;
- (ii) Has 500 hours of board approved instructor training in esthetics of at least nine months;
- (iii) Has one year of work experience at the esthetician or master level; and
- (iv) Has passed both a written and a practical examination to become an instructor in esthetics.

(B) A person holding a current cosmetology license at the esthetician or master level who is a high school graduate, has a general educational development (GED) diploma, or has a postsecondary education or college degree; who has completed the required board approved hours of continuing education; and has board approved work experience as an instructor or in education may, at the board's discretion, be permitted to take the written and the practical examination to become an instructor at the esthetician level.

(4)(A) A person desiring to teach at the nail technician level shall satisfy the board that he or she:

- (i) Holds a current cosmetology license at the nail technician or master level and is a high school graduate, has a general educational development (GED) diploma, or has a postsecondary education or college degree;
- (ii) Has 250 hours of board approved instructor training in nail care of at least four months;
- (iii) Has one year of work experience at the nail technician or master level; and
- (iv) Has passed both a written and a practical examination to become an instructor in nail care.

(B) A person holding a current cosmetology license at the nail technician or master level who is a high school graduate, has a general educational development (GED) diploma, or has a postsecondary education or college degree; who has completed the required board approved hours of continuing education; and has board approved work experience as an instructor or in education may, at the board's discretion, be permitted to take the written and the practical examination to become an instructor at the nail technician level.

(5) ~~Reserved.~~ A person desiring to teach barbering shall satisfy the board that he or she:

- (i) Holds a current master barber license and is a high school graduate, has a general educational development (GED) diploma, or has a postsecondary education or college degree;
- (ii) Has 750 hours of board approved instructor training in barbering;
- (iii) Has passed both a written and a practical examination to become an instructor in barbering.

(B) A person holding a current master barber who is a high school graduate, has a general educational development (GED) diploma, or has a postsecondary education or college degree; who has completed the required board approved hours of continuing education; and has board approved work experience as an instructor or in education may, at the board's discretion, be permitted to take the written and the practical examinations to become an instructor for barbering.

(6) (A) A person desiring to teach at the hair designer level shall satisfy the board that he or she:

- (i) Holds a current cosmetology license at the hair designer or master level and is a high school graduate, has a general educational development (GED) diploma, or has a postsecondary education or college degree;
- (ii) Has 750 hours of board approved instructor training in hair design of at least four months;
- (iii) Has one year of work experience at the hair designer or master level; and
- (iv) Has passed both a written and a practical examination to become an instructor in hair design.

(B) A person holding a current cosmetology license at the hair designer or master level who is a high school graduate, has a general educational development (GED) diploma, or has a postsecondary education or college degree; who has completed the required board approved hours of continuing education; and has board approved work experience as an instructor or in education may, at the board's discretion, be permitted to take the written and the practical examinations to become an instructor at the hair designer level.

(7) Any teacher or instructor shall renew his or her license to teach cosmetology ~~biennially in odd years~~ in accordance with the Professional Licensing Board Director's rule for licensure expiration dates by remitting with his or her application a renewal fee in such amount as shall be set by the board by regulation; provided, however, any teacher or instructor who fails to renew his or her certificate of registration to practice as a cosmetologist, esthetician, or nail technician on or before the date established by the board by regulation shall automatically have his or her license to teach or instruct suspended. A person failing to renew his or her instructor's license ~~within two years at the end of the late renewal period following the~~ after expiration date shall be required to pay a reinstatement fee after board review.

(8) Nothing in this Code section shall be construed as preventing a person from obtaining a certificate of registration as teacher or instructor who is certified by the Department of Education to teach cosmetology in the state public schools. The certification is limited to those persons who hold a current cosmetology license at the master level and also hold a diploma or certificate of 1,500 credit hours from a board approved school and have completed the three-year teachers training program required by the Department of Education. Such persons shall also pass both a written and a practical examination satisfactory to the board and, upon passage thereof, shall receive a license to teach cosmetology.

(f) All teachers or instructors of cosmetology at all levels seeking renewal of licenses are required to submit to the board proof of completion of 15 hours of continuing education in the cosmetology profession approved by the board at least half of which consists of instruction in teaching methods.

HISTORY: Ga. L. 1963, p. 45, § 12; Ga. L. 1966, p. 195, § 6; Ga. L. 1977, p. 803, § 4; Ga. L. 1979, p. 1327, § 8; Ga. L. 1980, p. 1420, §§ 9, 10; Ga. L. 1983, p. 1219, § 5; Ga. L. 1985, p. 1057, § 10; Ga. L. 1986, p. 10, § 43; Ga. L. 1992, p. 2490, § 1; Ga. L. 1996, p. 1239, § 6; Ga. L. 2000, p. 814, § 1; Ga. L. 2000, p. 1706, § 19; Ga. L. 2001, p. 1077, § 3; Ga. L. 2001, p. 1185, § 2; Ga. L. 2002, p. 415, § 43; Ga. L. 2006, p. 904, § 8/SB 145.

§ 43-10-13. Right to set course of study for students; application for examination

(a) The board shall have the right to set a course of study for all students of the schools of cosmetology, schools of hair design, schools of esthetics, ~~and~~ schools of nail care, and schools of barbering within this state.

(b) Before a student shall be eligible to take the examination provided for in Code Section 43-10-9, he or she shall first file with his or her application for examination a transcript showing the number of hours and courses completed from the school or shop attended by the student.

HISTORY: Ga. L. 1963, p. 45, § 5; Ga. L. 1979, p. 1327, § 3; Ga. L. 1980, p. 1420, §§ 2, 3; Ga. L. 1985, p. 1057, § 11; Ga. L. 2000, p. 814, § 1; Ga. L. 2006, p. 904, § 9/SB 145.

§ 43-10-14. Study by persons 16 years of age and older; registration of apprentices; registration certificate; waiver of education requirements

(a) Nothing in this chapter shall prohibit any person at least 16 years of age from learning the occupation of cosmetology under a master cosmetologist, provided that such cosmetologist has had at least 36 months' experience and has held a certificate of a master cosmetologist for at least 36 months. In addition, nothing in this chapter shall prohibit any person at least 16 years of age from learning the occupation of cosmetology under an instructor in a school of cosmetology who has been a cosmetologist for a period of at least one year and has registered under this chapter. Nothing in this chapter shall prohibit any person at least 16 years of age from learning the occupation of hair designer under a cosmetologist holding a master cosmetologist certificate or a hair design certificate, provided that such cosmetologist has had at least 36 months' experience or, under an instructor in a school of cosmetology or school of hair design who has held a certificate as a cosmetologist for a period of at least one year, is qualified to teach such practices and has registered under this chapter. Nothing in this chapter shall prohibit any person at least 16 years of age from learning the occupation of esthetics under a cosmetologist holding a master cosmetologist certificate or an esthetician certificate, provided that such cosmetologist has had at least 36 months' experience or, under an instructor in a school of cosmetology or school of esthetics who has held a certificate as a cosmetologist for a period of at least one year, is qualified to teach said practices and has registered under this chapter. Nothing in this chapter shall prohibit any person at least 16 years of age from learning the occupation of nail care or manicuring under a cosmetologist holding a master cosmetologist certificate or a nail technician certificate, provided that such cosmetologist has had at least 36 months' experience or, under an instructor in a school of cosmetology or school of nail care who has been a licensed cosmetologist for a period of at least one year, is qualified to teach such practices and has registered under this chapter. Nothing in this chapter shall prohibit any person at least 16 years of age from learning the occupation of barbering under a barber holding a master barber certificate, provided that such barber has had at least 18 months' experience or, under an instructor in a school of barbering who has been a licensed barber for a period of at least one year, is qualified to teach said practices and has registered under this chapter. ~~Any person registered as an apprentice under this Code section on June 30, 1997, shall be eligible to continue such apprenticeship under the person from whom that apprentice was learning the occupation of cosmetology, hair design, esthetics, or nail care or manicuring at the time of registration notwithstanding that the person under whom the apprentice was learning such occupation does not meet the 36 months' experience otherwise required by this Code section.~~ Every shop owner shall have the responsibility for registering apprentices with the division director. The shop owner shall file a statement in writing, showing the apprentice's name and the address of the shop. The board shall have the authority to require the shop owner or master cosmetologist, nail technician, esthetician, hair designer, or master barber who is supervising the apprentice to furnish to the board the number of hours completed by the apprentice. The shop owner shall remit to the division director a fee in such amount as shall be set by the board by regulation for the registration of the apprentice. The apprentice shall receive a certificate of registration showing the capacity in which he or she is permitted to practice cosmetology or barbering. The certificate of registration shall be effective for a period of ~~two~~ four years ~~and may be renewed at the end of such period upon the filing of an application on forms~~

~~furnished by the division director and the payment of a renewal fee in such amount as shall be set by the board by regulation.~~ A certificate of registration authorizing a person to learn the occupation of barbering or cosmetology under a cosmetologist shall not be renewed ~~more than one time~~; and, upon the expiration of ~~the last~~ certificate of registration issued, such person shall not be permitted to practice in any capacity.

(b) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Code section, the board shall be authorized to waive any education requirements under this Code section in cases of hardship, disability, or illness or under such other circumstances as the board deems appropriate with respect to any applicant who was enrolled in a board approved school or had completed a board approved study course ~~as of June 30, 2000.~~

HISTORY: Ga. L. 1963, p. 45, § 11; Ga. L. 1967, p. 727, § 2; Ga. L. 1977, p. 803, § 2; Ga. L. 1979, p. 1327, § 6; Ga. L. 1980, p. 1420, § 7.1; Ga. L. 1983, p. 1219, § 6; Ga. L. 1984, p. 581, § 1; Ga. L. 1985, p. 1057, § 12; Ga. L. 1997, p. 675, § 1; Ga. L. 1998, p. 128, § 43; Ga. L. 2000, p. 814, § 1; Ga. L. 2000, p. 1706, § 19; Ga. L. 2001, p. 1077, § 4; Ga. L. 2001, p. 1185, § 3; Ga. L. 2001, Ex. Sess., p. 321, § 3; Ga. L. 2006, p. 904, § 10/SB 145; Ga. L. 2014, p. 388, § 1/SB 336.

§ 43-10-15. Suspension, revocation, cancellation, or restoration of certificates of registration; reprimand of certificate holders; fines

(a) The board, acting upon its own knowledge or written or verified complaint filed by any person, shall have the power to reprimand or power to suspend, revoke, or cancel the certificate of registration of or refuse to grant, renew, or restore a certificate of registration to a holder of any certificate of registration issued pursuant to this chapter upon proof of any one of the following grounds:

(1) Willfully committing any false, fraudulent, or deceitful act or using any forged, false, or fraudulent document in connection with any requirement of this chapter or the rules and regulations of the board;

(2) Willfully failing at any time to comply with the requirements for a certificate of registration under this chapter;

(3) Practicing barbering or cosmetology under a false or assumed name;

(4) Willfully permitting an unlicensed person to practice, learn, or teach barbering or cosmetology;

(5) Knowingly performing an act which in any way assists an unlicensed person to practice, learn, or teach barbering or cosmetology; or

(6) Violating, directly or indirectly, or assisting in the violation of this chapter or any rule or regulation of the board.

(b) The board may impose a fine not to exceed \$500.00 for each violation of any provision of subsection (a) of this Code section; provided, however, that the board shall not, for any violation of paragraph (6) of subsection (a) of this Code section on grounds not set forth in paragraphs (1) through (5) of such subsection, impose a fine for the first violation in an amount that exceeds \$25.00, impose a fine for a second violation in an amount that exceeds \$75.00, or impose a fine for each

subsequent violation in an amount that exceeds \$300.00. Such fines shall be listed in a schedule contained in the rules and regulations of the board. The licensee shall pay the fine within 30 days after receiving ~~written notification~~ a citation from either the board or a representative of the board unless the licensee requests in writing a hearing ~~before the board~~. Such request for a hearing must be received by the board within 30 days after receipt of the ~~written notification~~ citation from the board or a representative of the board. Such hearings may be held by the Board or a committee of the Board. Decisions of a committee of the Board entered pursuant to this paragraph shall be final decisions of the Board. Failure either to pay the fine or request a hearing ~~shall~~ may result in immediate suspension of the license pending a hearing to determine whether revocation or other disciplinary action should be imposed on the licensee.

(c) The board, for good cause shown and under such conditions as it may prescribe, may restore a certificate of registration to any person, barbershop, beauty shop or beauty salon, or school or college of barbering or cosmetology whose certificate of registration has been suspended, revoked, or canceled.

(d) Chapter 13 of Title 50, the "Georgia Administrative Procedure Act," shall apply to any proceeding under this Code section.

HISTORY: Ga. L. 1979, p. 1327, § 10; Ga. L. 1992, p. 2490, § 2; Ga. L. 2000, p. 814, § 1; Ga. L. 2014, p. 388, § 1A/SB 336.

§ 43-10-16. Injunction against unlicensed or unregistered practice

The board may bring an action to enjoin any person, firm, or corporation from engaging in the occupation of barbering or cosmetology if such person, firm, or corporation, without being licensed or registered to do so by the board, engages in or practices the occupation of barbering or cosmetology. The action shall be brought in the county in which such person resides or, in the case of a firm or corporation, where the firm or corporation maintains its principal office; and, unless it appears that such person, firm, or corporation so engaging or practicing cosmetology is licensed or registered, the injunction shall be issued, and such person, firm, or corporation shall be perpetually enjoined from engaging in such activities throughout the state. It shall not be necessary in order to obtain the equitable relief provided in this Code section for the board to allege and prove that there is no adequate remedy at law. It is declared that the unlicensed activities referred to in this Code section are a menace and a nuisance dangerous to the public health, safety, and welfare.

HISTORY: Ga. L. 1967, p. 727, § 3; Ga. L. 2000, p. 814, § 1.

§ 43-10-17. Employment of persons to wash, shampoo, comb, and brush hair in beauty shops or salons

Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, a beauty shop or salon shall be authorized to employ persons to wash, shampoo, comb, and brush hair, and such persons shall not be required to be registered by the board.

HISTORY: Ga. L. 1977, p. 803, § 3; Ga. L. 1979, p. 1327, § 7; Ga. L. 1980, p. 1420, § 8; Ga. L. 1985, p. 1057, § 13; Ga. L. 1997, p. 675, § 2; Ga. L. 2000, p. 814, § 1; Ga. L. 2006, p. 904, § 11/SB 145.

§ 43-10-18. Home beauty shops and home barbershops

(a) Nothing contained in this chapter nor any rule or regulation adopted in implementation hereof shall be construed to prohibit any person from operating a beauty shop or barbershop within his or her home or residence, provided that such shop meets and complies with all of the provisions of this chapter and the rules and regulations promulgated by the board.

(b) It shall not be necessary for any person operating a beauty shop or barbershop in a private home to post a sign denoting same to be a beauty shop or barbershop unless the person elects to do so.

HISTORY: Ga. L. 1963, p. 45, §§ 5, 20; Ga. L. 1966, p. 195, § 7; Ga. L. 1979, p. 1327, § 3; Ga. L. 1980, p. 1420, § 3; Ga. L. 2000, p. 814, § 1.

~~§ 43-10-18.1. Authorization to employ licensed barber; exemption from barbering licensure provisions~~

~~A beauty shop or salon licensed under this chapter shall be authorized to employ a barber licensed under Chapter 7 of this title. A beauty shop or salon employing such a barber shall not be subject to the licensure provisions of Chapter 7 of this title. **HISTORY:** Code 1981, § 43-10-18.1, enacted by Ga. L. 1985, p. 1057, § 14; Ga. L. 2000, p. 814, § 1. O.C.G.A. § 43-10-18.2 (2006) Reserved.~~

§ 43-10-18.2. Exemption from licensing requirement for nursing home facility

Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, premises made available for a beauty shop or barbershop within a facility licensed as a nursing home pursuant to Article 1 of Chapter 7 of Title 31 shall not be required to be licensed or registered as a beauty shop or barbershop under this chapter, or otherwise be subject to any provisions of this chapter except for inspections, investigations, or both, for alleged violations of this chapter by any person licensed under this chapter, if barbering or cosmetologist services in such premises are rendered only to residents of the nursing home.

HISTORY: Code 1981, § 43-10-18.2, enacted by Ga. L. 1985, p. 1133, § 2; Ga. L. 2000, p. 814, § 1.

§ 43-10-18.3. Serving physically disabled persons in their homes

(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, barbering or cosmetology services may be performed by a licensed barber or cosmetologist in a client's residence, a nursing home, assisted living home, or a hospital when the client for reasons of ill health, infirmity, or other physical disability is unable to go to the licensed beauty shop, ~~or~~ salon, or barbershop for regular barbering or cosmetology services.

(b) The board is authorized to adopt reasonable rules and regulations prescribing requirements and conditions for the performance of the services authorized in subsection (a) of this Code section.

HISTORY: Code 1981, § 43-10-18.3, enacted by Ga. L. 1987, p. 1089, § 1; Ga. L. 2000, p. 814, § 1.

§ 43-10-19. Penalty

(a) If any person not lawfully entitled to a certificate of registration under this chapter shall practice the occupation of a barber or cosmetologist; or if any such person shall endeavor to learn the trade of a barber or cosmetologist by practicing the same under the instructions of a barber or cosmetologist or other person, other than as provided in this chapter; or if any such person shall instruct or attempt to instruct any person in such trade; or if any proprietor of or person in control of or operating any beauty shop, barbershop, school of cosmetology, school of hair design, school of esthetics, ~~or~~ school of nail care, or school of barbering shall knowingly employ for the purpose of practicing such occupation any barber or cosmetologist not registered under this chapter; or if any person, beauty shop, salon, barbershop or school of cosmetology, school of hair design, school of esthetics, or school of nail care, or school of barbering shall engage in any of the acts covered in this chapter though not registered under the provisions of this chapter; or if any person shall falsely or fraudulently pretend to be qualified under this chapter to practice or learn such trade or occupation;

or if any person shall violate any provision of the chapter for which a penalty is not specifically provided, he or she shall be guilty of a misdemeanor.

(b) Any person who operates or manages a beauty shop, salon, barbershop or school of cosmetology, school of hair design, school of esthetics, ~~or school of nail care~~, or school of barbering that employs a person who does not possess a license as provided in this chapter shall be guilty of a misdemeanor.

HISTORY: Ga. L. 1963, p. 45, §§ 16-18; Ga. L. 1985, p. 1057, § 15; Ga. L. 2000, p. 814, § 1; Ga. L. 2006, p. 904, § 12/SB 145.

§ 43-10-20. Teaching of barbering cosmetology in prisons; certification of registration

(a) For the purposes of this chapter, the teachers and instructors of and courses of instruction or training in barbering or cosmetology operated by the Department of Corrections shall be considered to be subject to the same standards and to be part of the cosmetology programs that are approved by the ~~Department of Technical and Adult Education~~ Technical College System of Georgia or the Department of Education as provided for by paragraphs ~~(8), (9), and~~ (10), (11), (13), (14), and (15) of Code Section 43-10-1 and paragraph (6) of subsection (e) of Code Section 43-10-12.

(b) The board shall be required to test an inmate who is an applicant for a certificate of registration under this chapter who has completed successfully a barber or cosmetology training program operated by the Department of Corrections and who meets the requirements stated in Code Section 43-10-9. If such inmate passes the applicable written and practical examinations, the board may issue the appropriate certificate of registration to such inmate after consideration of all requirements under Code Sections 43-10-9 and 43-1-19; provided, however, that the board shall not apply the provisions of paragraph (4) of subsection (a) of Code Section 43-1-19 to such inmate based solely upon such person's status as an inmate and shall apply such provisions in the same manner as would otherwise be applicable to an applicant who is not an inmate.

HISTORY: Code 1981, § 43-10-20, enacted by Ga. L. 2004, 617, § 1.